Central Washington University ScholarWorks@CWU

All Master's Theses

Master's Theses

Spring 2021

An Ecological Comparison Between Resource Subsidies: Pacific Lamprey (*Entosphenus tridentatus*) and Pacific Salmon (*Oncorhynchus* spp.)

Jocelyn Wensloff Central Washington University, jocelyn.wensloff@cwu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.cwu.edu/etd

Part of the Natural Resources Management and Policy Commons, and the Terrestrial and Aquatic Ecology Commons

Recommended Citation

Wensloff, Jocelyn, "An Ecological Comparison Between Resource Subsidies: Pacific Lamprey (*Entosphenus tridentatus*) and Pacific Salmon (*Oncorhynchus* spp.)" (2021). *All Master's Theses*. 1516. https://digitalcommons.cwu.edu/etd/1516

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Master's Theses at ScholarWorks@CWU. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@CWU. For more information, please contact scholarworks@cwu.edu.

AN ECOLOGICAL COMPARISON BETWEEN RESOURCE SUBSIDIES:

PACIFIC LAMPREY (ENTOSPHENUS TRIDENTATUS) AND

PACIFIC SALMON (ONCORHYNCHUS SPP.)

A Thesis

Presented to

The Graduate Faculty

Central Washington University

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Science

Biology

by

Jocelyn Wensloff

May 2021

CENTRAL WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY

Graduate Studies

We hereby approve the thesis of

Jocelyn Wensloff

Candidate for the degree of Master of Science

APPROVED FOR THE GRADUATE FACULTY

Dr. Clay Arango, Committee Chair

Dr. Paul James

Dr. Alexa Maine

Dean of Graduate Studies

ABSTRACT

AN ECOLOGICAL COMPARISON BETWEEN RESOURCE SUBSIDIES: PACIFIC LAMPREY (*ENTOSPHENUS TRIDENTATUS*) AND PACIFIC SALMON (*ONCORHYNCHUS SPP*.)

by

Jocelyn Wensloff

May 2021

Historically, oligotrophic Pacific Northwest (PNW) streams received annual returns of spawning anadromous fish that provided resource subsidies in the form of marine-derived nutrients (MDN), thus driving stream food web productivity. To date, many studies in the PNW have focused on Pacific salmon (*Oncorhynchus* spp.) as a resource subsidy, overlooking other anadromous fish species such as Pacific lamprey (Entosphenus tridentatus). Both Pacific salmon and Pacific lamprey are culturally important to PNW tribes for ceremonial, medicinal, and subsistence purposes, and have been since time immemorial. Unfortunately, both salmon and lamprey populations are in decline. Historically, lamprey have been disregarded and actively eradicated by non-tribal resource managers, and although they have recently been included in restoration considerations, their role as a resource subsidy is still poorly understood. In order to better understand how Pacific lamprey can subsidize stream food webs, I used a nutrient diffusing substrate (NDS) array amended with Pacific lamprey and tule fall Chinook salmon tissue to compare the basal food web response in the summer and fall, when lamprey and salmon spawn, respectively. This study was conducted in the upper Yakima River basin where the Yakama Nation has an active adult lamprey translocation program.

I measured chlorophyll *a* as the autotrophic food web response and community respiration (CR) as the heterotrophic food web response. Chlorophyll *a* responded equally to lamprey and salmon but was significantly higher in the summer. Alternatively, CR had a higher response to salmon compared to lamprey and was significantly higher in the fall. Differences observed in food web response were dictated by season, where chlorophyll *a* nutrient response ratios (NRRs) were roughly twice as high as in the summer and CR NRRs were roughly twice as high as in the fall. Stoichiometric differences in lamprey and salmon tissue likely facilitated this response and had C:N:P ratios of roughly 187:37:1 and 60:13:1 respectively. These results indicate that Pacific lamprey are equivalent to salmon as a resource subsidy for the autotrophic food web in the summer when lamprey would normally spawn and suggest that increased lamprey populations will drive stream food webs that support both lamprey and salmon.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to begin by acknowledging that my study was conducted on the ceded and traditional land of the Yakama Nation. Furthermore, I would like to thank both the Columbia River tribes and all Native American tribes who have worked so hard to shed light on the decline in Pacific lamprey populations and raise awareness around such an important species. If it weren't for the dedicated work of Native American tribes, then Pacific lamprey would have a much bleaker future.

I would like to thank my graduate adviser, Dr. Clay Arango and committee members, Dr. Paul James, and Dr. Alexa Maine for their endless patience, guidance, and support. Dr. Clay Arango's similar sarcastic sense of humor helped tremendously in maintaining high morale in carrying out this project in the face of COVID-19.

My field and lab work would not have been possible if it weren't for the help of Clay, his son Nathaniel Arango, my fantastic undergraduate assistants, Molly Robertson and Bevin Johnson, as well and my roommates and graduate cohort, Alex McCarrel, Rose Mastico, José Garrido, and Aimee Taylor, and all others.

Furthermore, I would like to thank Ralph Lampman with the Yakama Nation who supported my research before I was even accepted into a graduate program and who has been an endless source of encouragement and support. If I had not had Ralph's help, I would not have been able to complete my project.

I would additionally like to thank both Dave'y Lumley and Tyler Beals with the Yakama Nation, for their help in providing lamprey carcasses, as well as Joe Skalicky with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service for providing Chinook carcasses.

v

Funding for this project was organized by Laurie Porter and provided by the Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission, as well as the Graduate Student Summer Fellowship provided by Central Washington University Graduate Studies, and the WA State Distinguished Fellowship in Biology, provided by Central Washington University's Biology Department.

My family, friends, graduate cohort, and dog Dusty have been an invaluable source of encouragement, and I would not have been able to pull this off if I didn't have such a strong community helping me along in such a consistently uncertain time. Lastly, I would not have been able to succeed in graduate school if it weren't for the amazing folks in the Biology Department, including, but not limited to Kari Linnell, Mark Young, Jonathan Betz, Mari Knirck, and Stacey Ferris, for their endless patience, encouragement, and kind words.

To all who have helped, but were not specifically mentioned, thank you. To the streams, fish, and lamprey, thank you for inspiring and persisting.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter		Page
Ι	INTRODUCTION	1
	Tribal Conservation in the Columbia River Basin	7
	Stream Food Web Response to Anadromous Subsidies	
	Study Questions and Hypotheses	15
II	METHODS	17
	Site Selection and Study Design	17
	Preparation of Salmon and Lamprey NDS Treatments	20
	Nutrient Diffusing Substrata	
	Water Quality	25
	Elemental Composition and Stable Isotopes	
	Statistical Analysis	
III	RESULTS	
	Study Sites	
	Nutrient Limitation Status	
	Biofilm Response to Nutrient and Tissue Treatments	
	Biofilm Response to Lamprey and Salmon Tissue Treatments	39
	Elemental Composition and Stable Isotopes	
	Factors Influencing Food Web Response	47
IV	DISCUSSION	52
	Seasonal Patterns in Stream Nutrient Limitation	53
	Lamprey and Salmon Resource Subsidies	55
	Management Implications	60
	Future Studies	64
	Conclusion	66
	REFERENCES	68

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1	Lamprey and salmon tissue samples used in elemental composition and NDS treatments.	27
2	Variables used in linear mixed effects models to best explain chlorophyll <i>a</i> and CR. PAR = photosynthetically active radiation, DIN = dissolved inorganic nitrogen, N = nitrogen, P = phosphorus, C = carbon, DOC = dissolved organic carbon.	31
3	Habitat characterization of study sites. Temperature (Temp) and dissolved oxygen (DO) were measured during the deployment and retrieval of NDS arrays, and site average (1 standard error) is reported. Discharge and canopy openness were only measured during NDS deployment. Photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) was measured as a proprietary unit (pulses s ⁻¹) and reported here as rank data, $1 = $ high, $10 = $ low	33
4	Sample size, mean (standard error) aggregated mass of fish, mass of carbon (C), nitrogen (N), and phosphorous (P), as well as molar C:N, and molar N:P. "Avg. Mature" is the average of 5 mature male and 5 mature female lamprey, and "Avg. Migrant" is the average of the 3 fresh migrant male and 3 fresh migrant female lamprey	45

LIST OF FIGURES

	Page
Ceded lands of Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission member treaty-tribes across Washington, Oregon, and Idaho, USA. Clock-wise beginning with the ceded lands of the Nez Perce Tribe (darkest grey) is the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, the Confederated Tribes of Warm Springs, and the Confederated Tribes and Bands of the Yakama Nation. Major rivers and several Columbia River mainstem dams receiving tribal Pacific lamprey restoration work are shown.	9
Map of study sites located in the upper Yakima River basin in Kittitas County, Washington. The inset map shows the location of study sites relative to the Yakima River basin (shown in grey outline in the inset map) in Washington, USA.	19
Nutrient diffusing substrate array for a single stream prior to deployment. Each treatment (nutrient and filter top; white top = porous glass, yellow top = cellulose sponge) was randomly placed on an L-bar and secured with silicone and zip-ties. The color of the plastic cup does not indicate any difference in treatment. Each treatment is replicated 5 times per filter top.	24
Nutrient diffusing substrate array deployed in the Yakima River in June 2020. The L-bars were secured in the stream with rebar stakes at the upstream end.	25
Cumulative substrate (n = 100) measured along the intermediate axis, and median (dashed line) for a) Taneum, b) Manastash, c) Yakima, d) Teanaway, and e) Swauk	34
Mean a) ammonium (NH4 ⁺), b) nitrate (NO3 ⁻), c) soluble reactive phosphorus (SRP), and d) dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations for each study site in summer and fall +/- 1 standard error. Teanaway and Swauk DOC only had 1 sample in the summer, therefore they do not have error bars.	35
	 Ceded lands of Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission member treaty-tribes across Washington, Oregon, and Idaho, USA. Clock-wise beginning with the ceded lands of the Nez Perce Tribe (darkest grey) is the Confederated Tribes of Warm Springs, and the Confederated Tribes and Bands of the Yakama Nation. Major rivers and several Columbia River mainstem dams receiving tribal Pacific lamprey restoration work are shown. Map of study sites located in the upper Yakima River basin in Kittitas County, Washington. The inset map shows the location of study sites relative to the Yakima River basin (shown in grey outline in the inset map) in Washington, USA. Nutrient diffusing substrate array for a single stream prior to deployment. Each treatment (nutrient and filter top; white top = porous glass, yellow top = cellulose sponge) was randomly placed on an L-bar and secured with silicone and zip-ties. The color of the plastic cup does not indicate any difference in treatment. Each treatment is replicated 5 times per filter top. Nutrient diffusing substrate array deployed in the Yakima River in June 2020. The L-bars were secured in the stream with rebar stakes at the upstream end. Cumulative substrate (n = 100) measured along the intermediate axis, and median (dashed line) for a) Taneum, b) Manastash, c) Yakima, d) Teanaway, and e) Swauk. Mean a) ammonium (NH4⁺), b) nitrate (NO3⁻), c) soluble reactive phosphorus (SRP), and d) dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations for each study site in summer and fall +/- 1 standard error. Teanaway and Swauk DOC only had 1 sample in the summer, therefore they do not have error bars.

LIST OF FIGURES (CONTINUED)

Figure		Page
11	Nutrient limitation for gross primary production (GPP), chlorophyll a (Chl a), and community respiration (CR) for all 5 study sites in summer and fall. Limitation was either by N = nitrogen, P = phosphorous, C = carbon, or some combination, or was not limited by any nutrient used in the NDS (None).	37
12	Correlation plots comparing nutrient response ratios (NRR) of tissue (LA = lamprey in agar, top row; SA = salmon in agar, bottom row) to added nutrient treatments in agar across seasons. Gross primary production (GPP) and chlorophyll <i>a</i> (Chl <i>a</i>) response to tissue treatments are compared to the +N+P treatment whereas community respiration (CR) response to tissue is compared to the +N+P+C treatment. The dashed line is the 1:1 line. Correlations performed with a Pearson's correlation are indicated with (^P) next to test statistics, other correlations are Spearman's rank correlation; significant p-values are holded	20
	bolded	39
13	Seasonal nutrient response ratio (NRR) of Chlorophyll <i>a</i> to different fish treatments (lamprey and salmon) and amendment type (tissue in agar and tissue in nylon) blocked by season (summer and fall). Means indicated by dashed line. Bolded p-values indicate significance at $\alpha = 0.05$	40
14	Seasonal response of community respiration (CR) nutrient response ratio (NRR) to different fish treatments (lamprey and salmon) and amendment type (tissue in agar and tissue in nylon) blocked by season. Bolded p-values indicate significance at $\alpha = 0.05$. a) boxplot showing CR response to seasons; means indicated by dashed line; b) interaction plot showing CR response to tissue type and amendment	41
15	Gross primary production (GPP), chlorophyll <i>a</i> (Chl <i>a</i>), and community respiration (CR) response to fresh migrant and sexually mature lamprey tissue in Swauk Creek in the summer nutrient diffusing substrate deployment. Dashed lines indicate mean; tukey letters indicate significant differences.	43

Figure	Page
16	Mean (+/- 1 standard error) of the isotopic relationships between sexually mature male and female Pacific lamprey and salmon
17	Mean (+/- 1) standard error of the isotopic relationships between lamprey tissue samples
18	Relationship between community respiration nutrient response ratio (CR NRR) in response to +N+P+C treatment, and stream discharge. Best-fit line shown in black
19	Relationship between community respiration nutrient response ratio (CR NRR) in response to lamprey in agar treatment and temperature (p<0.0001). Temperature was the final main effect, with site treated as a random effect in a mixed-effects model to explain CR NRR for the lamprey treatment. Best-fit line shown in black
20	Relationship between community respiration nutrient response ratio (CR NRR) from salmon in agar treatment and water column molar nitrogen to phosphate (N:P) ratio. Best-fit line shown in black

LIST OF FIGURES (CONTINUED)

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Fluvial systems connect landscapes through their unidirectional transport of water and nutrients from their headwaters, across vastly distant ecotones, and ultimately to the ocean. The structure and productivity of stream food webs are often dictated by the influx of resource subsidies from the surrounding landscape (Cummins 1974; Vannote et al. 1980). Resource subsidies are additions of nutrients, organic materials, or organisms, derived outside of the receiving ecosystem that can increase primary and secondary production in the receiving ecosystem (Polis et al. 1997). Early studies on resource subsidies focused on influxes of allochthonous resources via leaf-litter from the surrounding riparian habitat into streams which provide nutrients (Webster et al. 2000), and food sources for aquatic macroinvertebrates (Cummins et al. 1989). This initial understanding of a resource subsidy has since expanded to include resource subsidies in many forms and across multiple ecosystems. For example, terrestrial organisms can act as resource subsidies as demonstrated by mass drownings from wildebeest migrations which can provide up to 1,100 tons of biomass to stream food webs and contribute a large amount of added nutrients to the system (Subalusky et al. 2017). Although stream food webs rely on influxes of resource subsidies, they can simultaneously provide a resource subsidy to the surrounding riparian habitat. For example, during aquatic macroinvertebrate emergence, the macroinvertebrates can act as a resource subsidy and dictate where predators such as spiders accumulate in the receiving riparian ecosystem (Marczak and Richardson 2007). Although these studies have expanded the literature base for resource subsidies, one of the most commonly studied resource subsidies in the Pacific Northwest (PNW) are Pacific salmon (Oncorhynchus spp.), which transport

marine-derived nutrients (MDN) to freshwater systems through their anadromous life history (Gresh et al. 2000).

Pacific salmon spend their early lives in freshwater, migrate to the ocean to accumulate biomass, and return to their natal streams to complete their life cycle. As returning adults, they transport carbon (C), nitrogen (N), and phosphorous (P) subsidies from the ocean to the receiving freshwater ecosystem (Polis et al. 1997; Lundberg and Moberg 2003). These subsidies from runs of semelparous salmon provide carcass and egg material which enter the food web directly through consumption by aquatic macroinvertebrates (Chaloner et al. 2002), juvenile anadromous (Bilby et al. 1996) and resident fish species (Kaylor et al. 2020), or terrestrial scavengers such as the American dipper (Cinclus mexicanus; Tonra et al. 2015), or bears (Ursus spp.; Shakeri et al. 2018). Alternatively, salmon can contribute indirectly to food webs, where the decomposition of their post-spawn carcasses releases nutrients which can stimulate the autochthonous production of benthic biofilms to provide a food source for aquatic macroinvertebrates, juvenile and resident fish species (Morley et al. 2016; Kaylor et al. 2020), and other higher consumers (Tonra et al. 2015). In some systems, marine-derived N sources may be extremely important in stream food webs as some studies have found that ¹⁵N composes 30-73% of the organismal N in stream consumers after salmon addition (Chaloner et al. 2002; Tonra et al. 2015; Morley et al. 2016).

Unfortunately, many Pacific salmon runs are extinct or declining across their historic range (Nehlsen et al. 1991), which can directly impact stream food webs. Many anthropogenic factors have contributed to salmon declines, such as the construction of hydropower dams, over-fishing, logging, mining, irrigation infrastructure and flow

regulation, and continued urban growth (Nehlsen et al. 1991). Decreased salmon returns directly impact the MDN influx added to PNW stream food webs, as it is estimated that only 6-7% of historic salmon MDN are entering these systems (Gresh et al. 2000). Diminished MDN inputs from anthropogenic impacts can rapidly decrease stream productivity (Bilby et al. 1996), a process termed cultural oligotrophication (Stockner et al. 2000). Cultural oligotrophication can elicit a positive feedback loop in which decreased MDN input decreases stream productivity which decreases juvenile salmonid survival, which decreases spawner abundance thus decreasing MDN input (Wipfli et al. 1998; Naiman et al. 2002). Understanding this feedback loop and the importance of salmon as a resource subsidy (see Janetski et al. 2009) has led to multiple responses to mitigate cultural oligotrophication. For example, from 1999 through 2019 the state of Washington has invested approximately \$1 billion in various projects to improve salmon populations (WSRC 2020). Additionally, various resource managers have attempted to offset the positive feedback loop by adding salmon carcasses or artificial salmon carcass analog pellets directly into salmon-bearing streams (Pearsons et al. 2007; Kohler et al. 2012). This salmon-centric approach has allowed researchers and resource managers to understand the ecological importance of resource subsidies via annual anadromous returns; however, less charismatic anadromous species such as Pacific lamprey (Entosphenus tridentatus) have largely gone unnoticed in terms of their ecological importance by non-tribal resource managers.

Pacific Lamprey

Pacific lamprey are a member of the ancient jawless fish superclass, Agnatha, and are a native member of PNW ichthyofauna (Close et al. 1995; Close et al. 2002). They are an anadromous, semelparous species, that begin their life as larval, filter-feeding organisms burrowed in fine stream sediment for 3-8 years (Close et al. 2002; Dawson et al 2015). Once they transform into juveniles (Clemens 2019), they migrate to the oceans and undergo a parasitic phase for up to 3.5 years (Beamish 1980; Clemens et al. 2010), accumulating a large amount of MDN before returning to the rivers to spawn. Spawning generally occurs between April and July (Beamish 1980), however the time spent in freshwater prior to spawning depends on the specific life history characteristics. Ocean-maturing Pacific lamprey will spawn within several weeks of re-entering freshwater, whereas stream-maturing lamprey can hold for up to 2 years in river systems prior to spawning (Close et al. 2004; Miller 2012; Clemens et al. 2013).

Similar to Pacific salmon, Pacific lamprey contribute to both direct and indirect food web pathways. Larval or migrating juvenile Pacific lamprey are often cited as a predation-buffer against migrating salmon (Close et al. 2002; Clemens et al. 2010) due to their poor swimming ability and high lipid content (Whyte et al. 1993), and they can stimulate direct food web pathways via predation by sculpin (*Cottus* spp.), white sturgeon (*Acipenser transmontanus*), rainbow trout (*O. mykiss*) and other consumers (Merrell 1959; Poe et al. 1991; Close et al 1995). Furthermore, as returning adults, they provide carcass and egg material during and after spawning events, which can further drive direct food web pathways (Beamish 1980; Close et al. 2002). Alternatively, they can contribute to indirect pathways during their larval stage where they filter feed and assimilate 3040% of the detritus, diatoms, and algae they ingest, thus breaking down larger particles into sizes that are available for filter feeding aquatic insects (Moore and Mallatt 1980; Merritt et al. 1984). Additionally, lamprey have a life history such that they could subsidize stream food webs with MDN similar to Pacific salmon, but there have been very few studies that have investigated Pacific lamprey as a resource subsidy. Dunkle (2017) utilized an adapted mechanistic periphyton biomass model to predict that postspawn Pacific lamprey carcasses may contribute a small-scale, localized response that creates a hotspot of food web activity due to the small population and body size of Pacific lamprey. Moreover, Dunkle et al. (2020) found that complex in-stream habitat can facilitate this process by contributing to carcass loading at specific locations within the stream. Although there are limited studies with Pacific lamprey, studies on anadromous sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*) in Maine suggest that lamprey may contribute similarly to indirect food web pathways like salmon, where post-spawn carcasses can increase downstream biofilms as a food source for aquatic macroinvertebrates and larval lamprey (Weaver et al. 2016; Weaver et al. 2018a). Furthermore, Hogg et al. (2013) found evidence of a positive feedback loop where the presence of larval lamprey increased subsequent spawner abundance and MDN inputs from adult lamprey increased larval growth rate and survival (Weaver et al. 2018b).

Currently, Pacific lamprey are listed as a species of concern by United States Fish and Wildlife Service due to declining populations and face a "high risk" of extirpation in most of the watersheds where they still exist (Renaud 1997; Wang and Schaller 2015). However, Pacific lamprey populations could historically be found in streams from Japan to Baja California and were understood to have large populations which could compose

the dominant biomass in some coastal rivers (Kan 1975; Close et al. 2002; Miller 2012). There is not an agreed quantitative historical estimate, however daytime counts at Bonneville Dam were as high as 400,000 prior to 1969 although runs in the Columbia River basin were likely much higher than this as a Nez Perce tribal member reported that up to 500,000 lamprey were commercially harvested at Willamette Falls alone in the 1800s (CRITFC 2011).

The sharp decline in Pacific lamprey populations is multi-faceted. Pacific lamprey share many of the same threats as Pacific salmon (Clemens et al. 2017), however other actions such as systematic extermination and commercial harvest additionally contributed to the decline. Rotenone treatments were a common method used to rid streams of non-salmonids during the 1940s-1980s (Close et al. 1995). For example, a 1967 rotenone treatment in the Umatilla River killed around 1 million fish of varying age groups (Close et al. 1995), and a 1969 rotenone treatment in the North Fork John Day River killed 33,000 adult Pacific lamprey (Figure 1; ODFW 2002). Although lamprey were actively exterminated in some basins, there was a commercial harvest at Willamette Falls which began in 1941, peaked in 1946 with 500,000 adults harvested, and ended in 2001 after just 12,276 were harvested (Close et al. 1995; ODFW 2002; Close et al. 2009). These factors are compounded with a general lack of awareness by various resource managers, and an overall negative bias towards lamprey due to invasive sea lamprey in the Great Lakes (USFS 2011).

Declines in Pacific lamprey were first noticed by Native American tribal members along the Oregon coast and inland Columbia River basin (ODFW 2002; Close et al. 2004). Since then, PNW tribes have been at the forefront of Pacific lamprey research,

restoration, and conservation actions. In 2004, the Columbia River tribes organized a summit where 12 tribes from California, Oregon, and the Columbia River basin along with federal, state, and local partners committed to conserve this unique species (Wang and Schaller 2015). These tribes are now collaborating with other governing entities to spearhead Pacific lamprey research to "…restore natural production of Pacific lamprey to a level that will provide robust species abundance, significant ecological contributions and meaningful harvest…" throughout their historic distribution (Yakama Nation Fisheries 2020).

Tribal Conservation in the Columbia River Basin

Pacific Northwest tribes have a deep cultural connection with Pacific lamprey. In addition to relying on Pacific lamprey as a source of food, many tribes have used lamprey for medicinal and ceremonial purposes since time immemorial (Close et al. 1995; Close et al. 2002). The decline in lamprey populations has directly impacted tribal members' legal harvest opportunities and ability to maintain traditional ecological knowledge surrounding this species (Close 1995; Close et al. 2002; Close et al. 2004; Miller 2012). In order to restore Pacific lamprey populations and maintain the cultural connection, many PNW tribes have contributed to lamprey restoration and research; however 4 Columbia River basin treaty-tribes in particular have banded together and been extensively involved in lamprey restoration, conservation, and research within the Columbia River basin (Figure 1).

In 1977, the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation (CTUIR), the Confederated Tribes of Warm Springs (Warm Springs), the Nez Perce Tribe (Nez

Perce), and the Confederated Tribes and Bands of the Yakama Nation (Yakama Nation) created the Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission (CRITFC n.d.a; Figure 1). This collective body was formed to facilitate and coordinate with local and international entities to ensure its member treaty-tribes' fishing rights are maintained into perpetuity (CRITFC n.d.a). Since the inception of CRITFC, the organization, along with the member treaty-tribes, have spearheaded many lamprey restoration efforts, and they actively provide non-tribal entities with invaluable traditional ecological knowledge regarding historic lamprey distribution, abundance, and ecological role to guide conservation efforts on their traditional and ceded lands and beyond (CRITFC 2011; CRITFC n.d.b). In 2011, CRITFC and its member tribes, created a comprehensive restoration plan, the "Tribal Pacific Lamprey Restoration Plan for the Columbia River Basin," dedicated to restoring Pacific lamprey populations in the Columbia River mainstem and tributaries with targeted goals (CRITFC 2011). This plan intends to halt Pacific lamprey declines and rebuild healthy populations that allow Pacific lamprey to fulfill their ecological role while increasing opportunities for tribal members to exercise their rights to sustainably harvest and maintain traditional ecological knowledge surrounding this species (CRITFC 2011). Although CRITFC has made historic progress in terms of lamprey restoration, each member tribe has collaboratively and individually contributed to increase lamprey populations.



Figure 1 Ceded lands of Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission member treatytribes across Washington, Oregon, and Idaho, USA. Clock-wise beginning with the ceded lands of the Nez Perce Tribe (darkest grey) is the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, the Confederated Tribes of Warm Springs, and the Confederated Tribes and Bands of the Yakama Nation. Major rivers and several Columbia River mainstem dams receiving tribal Pacific lamprey restoration work are shown.

The CTUIR was one of the first treaty-tribes to focus on Pacific lamprey research and to improve lamprey populations. In 1998, they began including night counts for adult Pacific lamprey returns at Bonneville Dam to obtain better data about Pacific lamprey numbers as traditional ecological knowledge suggested that lamprey mainly move at night when they first re-enter river systems (Close 2000; Close et al. 2004; Miller 2012). Although there was an 8-year delay before the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers also included night counts for Pacific lamprey at all of the passage structures on Bonneville Dam (CRITFC 2011), night counts are now included as a recommendation to improve the accuracy of lamprey population estimates (Pacific Lamprey Technical Workgroup 2017). Additionally, in efforts to increase lamprey populations, the CTUIR began a translocation program in 1999 that successfully transplanted 2,600 Pacific lamprey adults by 2007 (Close et al. 2009). Today, CTUIR and the Yakama Nation lead the way in the development of artificial propagation methods and have successfully produced thousands of larvae with outplanting plans that build on their prior successes (CRITFC n.d.b; Lampman et al. 2016; Lampman et al. 2020; Yakama Nation Fisheries 2020). As a result of CTUIR efforts, populations of larval and spawning adult Pacific lamprey have increased in the Umatilla River basin (Close et al. 2009; USFS 2019; Ward et al. 2012).

Similarly, the Warm Springs have been active in many areas of lamprey research and have contributed to knowledge around lamprey habitat requirements and improving population estimates. Warm Springs biologists began a study in 2002 dedicated to determining lamprey species composition, adult abundance, and larval distribution within the Deschutes River basin in Oregon (Graham and Brun 2004). They found larval lamprey in 4 of the 13 streams surveyed with larval lamprey presence positively associated with depositional areas, fine sediment, wood presence, and low stream flows (Graham and Brun 2004; Graham and Brun 2006). After the 2010 removal of the Powerdale Dam from the Hood River in Oregon, Warm Springs biologists monitored the return of Pacific lamprey and later found 1- and 2-year old larvae above the old dam site (CRITFC n.d.b). From 2010-2016 the Warm Springs biologists worked on improving estimates of escapement, the portion of a returning anadromous population that avoids harvest, at Willamette Falls and estimated that an average of 60,689 adults passed the fish

structures, a 50-60% decline in historic abundance (Baker and McVay 2016; USFS 2019). During this time, Warm Springs also improved estimates for escapement and abundance at Sherars Falls on the Deschutes River (CRITFC et al. 2018).

The Nez Perce began an active translocation program in 2006 with the goal of reestablishing self-sustaining lamprey populations in the Snake and Clearwater River basins, largely in Idaho (CRITFC 2011; Ward et al. 2012). To start this program, they collected lamprey from dewatered fishways at the Dalles and John Day dams in the Columbia River, and later also collected lamprey during upstream migration at Bonneville, the Dalles, and John Day dams (CRITFC et al. 2018). As a result of the translocation program, spawning and larval lamprey have been documented in Asotin Creek (Snake River basin) and Lolo Creek (Clearwater basin) where they had not been detected since the 1980s, and 2004-2006 respectively (CRITFC et al. 2018; Ward et al. 2012). The Nez Perce extended their translocation project to include the Salmon River basin in 2012 (CRITFC et al. 2018), and as of 2018, the Nez Perce has released 2,805 adult lamprey into the Clearwater, Salmon, and Snake River basins (Poirier 2019).

In 2011, the Yakama Nation and CRITFC organized the first international forum focused on recovery and propagation of lamprey, and now the Yakama Nation has a successful artificial propagation program that produces thousands of larval lamprey per year with the eventual goal of larval outplanting (Greig and Hall 2011; Lampman et al. 2020; Yakama Nation Fisheries 2020). Additionally, the Yakama Nation has an active translocation project modeled after CTUIR efforts that successfully translocated 15 adults into Status Creek (Yakima River basin) in 2012 (CRITFC 2011; Yakama Nation Fisheries 2020). Since then, the Yakama Nation has translocated adult Pacific lamprey

into the Yakima, Naches, Wenatchee, and Methow rivers (Lampman 2017a; Lampman 2017b; Lampman 2017c). Translocation efforts in the Yakima River basin have included the upper Yakima basin above Roza Dam, where Pacific lamprey were locally extirpated (Figure 1). Although Roza Dam is a known Pacific lamprey barrier (Lampman et al. 2014), the Yakama Nation translocated 102 adults above the dam in efforts to restore populations throughout the Yakima River and began passage improvement on Roza Dam (Lampman et al. 2015). Larval lamprey release pheromones which can attract spawning adults (Sorensen et al. 2005; Yun et al. 2011) and are therefore an important mechanism for improving Pacific lamprey populations. If Pacific lamprey populations increase in the Yakima River, and throughout the Columbia River basin, they will contribute increased MDN to these streams and will likely contribute to stream food web productivity (Close et al. 2002).

Stream Food Web Response to Anadromous Subsidies

Although a resource subsidy benefits the receiving ecosystem (Polis et al. 1997), environmental conditions can dictate the food web response via changes in the benthic biofilm. Benthic biofilms are a symbiotic community of autotrophic and heterotrophic microbiota that convert dissolved water column nutrients and organic matter into particulate matter that can be transferred to higher consumers, making them an integral part of the basal food web in stream networks (Cummins 1974; Weitere et al. 2018). Understanding how biofilms respond to resource subsidies shows the potential for food web assimilation of the subsidy. After initially increasing in response to a resource subsidy, biofilms can then decrease due to macroinvertebrate grazing (Claeson et al.

2006), or due to scouring from active spawner disturbance (Cak et al. 2008; Janetski et al. 2009). In some cases, the biofilm may not respond at all if light limitation attenuates demand by autotrophic-dominated biofilms (Ambrose et al. 2004). In most cases, studies have documented increased benthic biofilms (biofilms) as an initial response to carcass additions (Wipfli et al. 1998; Fisher et al. 1999; Janetski et al. 2009; Weaver et al. 2016), particularly if nutrients limit biofilm growth.

Biofilm nutrient limitation status can vary among streams and across seasons which may influence the initial, indirect food web response, and the autotrophic and heterotrophic biofilm communities can differ in their response to the same subsidy (Tank and Dodds 2003; Marcarelli et al. 2009; Hoellein et al. 2010). For example, some studies have found stream biofilms are typically N and P co-limited and have higher P retention during the spring (Hoellein et al. 2007; Hall et al. 2002). Similar trends were seen in the fall, except that some autotrophic communities expressed primary N limitation with secondary P limitation (Morley et al. 2016). Nutrient limitation in the fall is partly attributed to the greater addition of leaf litter, which requires a large amount of microbial processing. For example, Webster et al. (2000) found that by excluding leaf and wood litter, P and ammonium retention was reduced suggesting that microbial colonization on the surface of leaf and wood litter outcompeted other heterotrophic processes such as fungal biomass accumulation (Tank and Webster 1998). The nutrient requirements by microbes during leaf decomposition may help explain why coho salmon (O. kisutch) carcasses alleviated autotrophic communities, despite all but 1 heterotrophic community remaining mostly P limited (Rüegg et al. 2011). This suggests that the elemental

composition of the resource subsidy in combination with the stoichiometric demand of biofilms can further influence the food web response.

Anatomical differences between Pacific lamprey and salmon may contribute to stoichiometric differences in the resource subsidy that may influence the food web response. For example, salmon and other teleost fish, have calcified bones which can hold up to 40% of organismal P, whereas lamprey are composed of cartilage and keratin which are lower in P (Parmenter and Lamarra 1991; McPhail 2007). Prior to my study, the elemental composition of Pacific lamprey was unknown, however Weaver et al. (2015) reported sea lamprey in Maine were composed of 54% C, 11.2% N, and 1% P, and had a C:N:P molar ratio of 207:30:1. Although Pacific salmon molar ratios vary by species, Rüegg et al. (2011) reported unpublished data from D. Chaloner that estimated pink salmon (*O. gorbuscha*) to have a molar ratio of 139:24:1. Molar ratios may ultimately determine how the autotrophic or heterotrophic community may benefit from added nutrients based on the stoichiometric demand of consumers (Elser et al. 1996).

Although both Pacific lamprey and Pacific salmon share anadromous life histories and similar distributions (Wicks-Arshack et al. 2018), they differ in the seasonal timing of their life histories which may influence nutrient delivery and stream food web response. For example, Pacific lamprey typically spawn from April through July when biological activity is beginning to increase from warming temperatures and increased light availability (Beamish 1980; Crandall and Wittenbach 2015). Alternatively, Pacific salmon, although there are some variations, typically spawn in the fall and winter at a time with less biological activity due to cooler temperatures and less light availability (Wydoski and Whitney 2003). Therefore, it is possible that resource subsidies from

spawning timing differences influence fungal biomass, bacterial density, or stable isotope $(\delta^{13}\text{C and }\delta^{15}\text{N})$ enrichment of biofilms (Samways et al. 2015). Moreover, lamprey are smaller than salmon; Pacific lamprey can reach 70 cm in length and can weigh as much as 453.5 g whereas Pacific salmon typically range from 50-92 cm and weigh anywhere from 1800-10,000 g on average depending on the species (Wydoski and Whitney 2003). The drastic differences in fish sizes may alter the quantity of nutrients delivered to streams in runs of equal numbers.

Given the large amount of money being invested to improve salmon returns, and the simultaneous increased attention around Pacific lamprey, it is important to understand how seasonal timing of lamprey life history will influence the food web response. For example, as the Yakama Nation works to increase Pacific lamprey populations in the upper Yakima River basin, an area that has not had Pacific lamprey for several decades, it is important to understand how the added MDN will influence the stream food webs. Understanding how autotrophic and heterotrophic biofilms respond to lamprey tissue compared to salmon will help predict the indirect food web response to lamprey restoration efforts. This will allow resource managers, the Yakama Nation, and other tribes to gain greater insight into how lamprey restoration efforts might impact stream food webs in the upper Yakima basin and similar oligotrophic systems.

Study Questions and Hypotheses

This study sought to elucidate the role of Pacific lamprey as a resource subsidy compared to Pacific salmon. This was done by comparing the stream biofilm response to lamprey and salmon tissue in streams above Roza Dam, and how that response varied by environmental and seasonal factors, and by differences in the elemental composition of fish species. In this study, I aimed to answer: 1) Are streams in the upper Yakima River basin nutrient limited, and how does nutrient limitation change seasonally? 2) Do autotrophic and heterotrophic biofilms respond differently to salmon and lamprey compared to added nutrients? 3) Do stream biofilms respond similarly to lamprey and salmon tissue, and does the response differ between summer and fall? 4) What is the elemental composition of Pacific lamprey compared to Pacific salmon? 5) Can seasonal differences in stream temperature, light availability, and canopy cover predict stream biofilm response?

Given the oligotrophic conditions of the upper Yakima basin, I hypothesized that the streams would be nutrient-limited, especially in the summer when more light activity may stimulate nutrient demand via autotrophic biofilms. I expected biofilm communities to respond similarly to nutrient and fish tissue treatments; however, I did not expect a difference in biofilm response between lamprey and salmon treatments. Due to the presence of bones in salmon, I expected Chinook salmon to have higher P content than lamprey, but I did not expect a difference in nitrogen or carbon content. Finally, I expected that season will be the primary predictor in biofilm response given that light availability and temperature are largely controlled by season.

CHAPTER II

METHODS

Site Selection and Study Design

I selected five study sites in the Upper Yakima River basin in Kittitas County (Figure 2). Sites were selected on the Yakima River, Teanaway River, Swauk Creek, Taneum Creek, and Manastash Creek. Locations at these sites were selected based on accessibility, riparian canopy openness, lack of a passage barrier, and similarity to suitable Pacific lamprey spawning grounds defined by median substrate size (median = 27 mm, Stone 2006; median = 24 mm, Gunckel et al. 2009). Open canopy sites were given preference in order to reduce any potentially confounding influence of lightlimitation on autotrophic biofilm growth when comparing the food web response among study sites (Ambrose et al. 2004).

At each site, I measured the seasonal change in nutrient limitation of autotrophic and heterotrophic benthic biofilms using a nutrient diffusing substrate (NDS) array. In 2020, I deployed NDS arrays from 06 June to 04 August (summer) and from 02 October to 10 November (fall). Summer months were selected based on typical lamprey spawning periods (Close et al. 2002), however COVID-19 setbacks delayed my earliest sampling until June; fall months were selected based on typical salmon spawning periods in the Yakima basin (Yakama Nation 2019). The seasonal separation also allowed a comparison between two distinctly different "metabolic" time periods in these streams: summer when autotrophic metabolism was expected to dominate in the high light conditions, and fall when heterotrophic metabolism was expected to dominate due to leaf litter inputs and increased shading.

I measured general stream habitat characteristics to further explain the biofilm response. I estimated canopy openness using a spherical densiometer (Spherical Crown Densiometer, Convex Model A, Forestry Suppliers; Jackson, MS, USA), and I measured stream velocity using a portable flow meter (Flo-Mate 2000, Marsh McBirney; Loveland, CO, USA) to calculate discharge at a representative channel cross-section. Additionally, during NDS deployment and retrieval, I measured in situ temperature and dissolved oxygen using a portable, handheld YSI (YSI ProODO, YSI Inc.; Yellow Springs, OH, USA), and I collected water samples for stream ammonium (NH_4^+) , nitrate (NO_3^-) , soluble reactive phosphorous (SRP), and dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations. I also measured photosynthetically active radiation (PAR; Odyssey Photosynthetic Active Radiation Logger, Dataflow Systems Inc.; Christchurch, New Zealand) as pulses s⁻¹ at one-minute intervals during several representative days at each site during NDS deployment. Finally, during the summer NDS deployment, I calculated median substrate size from the cumulative substrate measured along the intermediate axis (n = 100 per site) via a Wolman Pebble Count (Wolman 1954). In contrast to all other measurements which occurred in both seasons, substrate was measured only in the summer because there was no sediment-mobilizing stream discharge between summer and fall deployment, so a change in median substrate size was not expected.



Figure 2 Map of study sites located in the upper Yakima River basin in Kittitas County, Washington. The inset map shows the location of study sites relative to the Yakima River basin (shown in grey outline in the inset map) in Washington, USA.

Preparation of Salmon and Lamprey NDS Treatments

In order to use fish tissue for NDS treatments, I received 22 sexually mature Pacific lamprey carcasses (both pre- and post-spawn) from the Yakama Nation. Although I had hoped to acquire coho salmon carcasses because they normally spawn during the fall when I deployed NDS, they were unavailable. Instead, I received 9 pre-spawn tule fall Chinook (*O. tshawytscha*) carcasses from U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Additionally, in order to examine if the elemental composition of the stream-maturing ecotype might change from the time of re-entry to the time when they spawn (due to the potential for altered stoichiometry to influence biofilm activity), the Yakama Nation provided 6 stream-maturing ecotype lamprey carcasses that had recently returned to the Columbia River system (fresh migrants). Individual whole carcasses were homogenized and combined with all other individuals of the same species and migration status to create three separate fish treatments for NDS arrays: salmon (+salmon, n = 9), sexually mature lamprey (+ lamprey, n = 22), and fresh migrant lamprey (+fresh migrant, n = 6) treatments.

For the lamprey preparation, individual whole lamprey carcasses were weighed and homogenized using a commercial grade food processor. Female lamprey carcasses included the eggs that remained after a subsample of eggs was removed for separate elemental analysis (described below), but some carcasses in the NDS lamprey treatment were post-spawn. Salmon heads were removed anterior to the operculum and were not homogenized due to lack of necessary equipment. The skeleton and caudal fin were homogenized in a scientific blender with milliQ water (M $\Omega = 18.2$), then added to the remaining tissue, which was homogenized in a commercial grade food processor. Salmon

and sexually mature lamprey treatments were included in each NDS array deployed in both seasons at all sites. However, the fresh migrant tissue was only included in a single summer deployment in Swauk Creek in order to compare biofilm response to fresh migrant lamprey tissue and sexually mature lamprey tissue.

Nutrient Diffusing Substrata

I used NDS arrays to measure stream nutrient limitation status and response to added nutrients following methods outlined by Tank et al. (2017). Nutrient diffusing substrata were composed of 0.5 M nutrient solutions in a 2-4% agar gel (based on number of solutes) poured into 30 mL polyethylene plastic cups. Nutrient diffusing substrate nutrient treatments included a 2% agar used for the control (agar only), +N (ammonium chloride), +P (potassium monobasic phosphate), and +C (glucose), 3% agar used for +N+P (ammonium and phosphate), +N+C (ammonium and glucose), and +P+C (phosphate, and glucose), and 4% agar used for +N+P+C (ammonium, phosphate, and glucose). Each treatment was topped with either a porous glass disk which selects for the autotrophic community (Tank and Dodds 2003), or a cellulose sponge disk which selects for the heterotrophic community (Johnson et al. 2009).

Salmon and sexually mature lamprey tissue were included as 2 additional NDS treatments that differed in preparation. The first treatment was 2% agar amended with either 3 grams of homogenized mature lamprey tissue (+lamprey, LA) or salmon tissue (+salmon, SA) in a 10% *w/v* mixture (Rüegg et al. 2011). Based on elemental analysis (described below), LA had concentrations of 4.36 mol C/L, 0.87 mol N/L, and 0.03 mol P/L, and SA had concentrations of 4.16 mol C/L, 0.93 mol N/L, and 0.07 mol P/L. The second tissue treatment was composed of approximately 25 mL of ground lamprey (LT)

or salmon (ST) tissue, bound in a nylon stocking that had been soaked in milliQ water for 24 h and placed in the polyethylene NDS cup. Both tissue treatments were also topped with a porous glass disk or cellulose sponge in a fully crossed design. Additionally, fresh migrant tissue was included as an agar (FMLA) and a tissue in nylon (FMLT) treatment in a single summer deployment in Swauk Creek. As my study progressed, I began to run out of mature lamprey tissue, so I added 2 additional sexually mature pre-spawn lamprey carcasses provided by the Yakama Nation to the previously homogenized sexually mature lamprey tissue and included them in the fall LT treatment for Teanaway and Swauk deployments. Elemental analysis found no difference in elemental composition between mature and fresh migrant tissue, so adding new individuals to the lamprey treatments for two streams was unlikely to introduce excessive variation compared to the initial lamprey treatments.

To assemble the NDS arrays, treatments were randomly placed on L-bars (n = 8 bar⁻¹) and secured with waterproof silicone and zip ties (Figure 3). Each treatment (n = 11 treatments) was replicated 5 times with each top (glass or sponge) per deployment, and these arrays were deployed in each of the 5 study streams (n =110 cups per stream, Figure 4). Deployments were replicated in summer and fall (n = 550 season⁻¹), and each deployment lasted 11-15 days, a length of time sufficient to colonize biofilm based on prior studies in this area (C. Arango, unpublished data).

Nutrient diffusing substrate arrays were deployed with a minimum of 1 day between deployments to allow 24 hours after retrieval for processing the NDS tops. After retrieval, net primary production (NPP) and community respiration (CR) were measured in the laboratory using a modified light-dark bottle method (Tank et al. 2017; Tank and Dodds 2003). First, NPP (μ g O₂ cm⁻² h⁻¹) was measured by incubating filters in the light and measuring the change in dissolved oxygen, then CR (μ g O₂ cm⁻² h⁻¹) was measured by incubating filters in the dark and measuring the change in dissolved oxygen. Gross primary production (GPP; μ g O₂ cm⁻² h⁻¹) was then calculated by adding NPP and the absolute value of CR (Tank et al. 2017: Johnson et al. 2009). These values represent the stream biofilm metabolic activity of autotrophs (GPP) and heterotrophs (CR) in response to the various nutrient and tissue treatments. Negative values of GPP and positive values of CR were excluded from the analysis.

After the light/dark bottle incubation, glass filters were frozen until NDS processing was complete for each season whereupon chlorophyll *a* biomass (μ g cm⁻²) was measured using a hot ethanol extraction method (Sartory and Grobbelaar 1984) as an additional autotrophic food web response to the NDS treatments. The disks were placed in a plastic centrifuge tube with 10 mL of 95% ethanol buffered with MgCl₂. The tubes were then heated to 79°C for 5 minutes, mixed, and measured within 24 hours. Samples were then analyzed fluorometrically using a Turner Designs benchtop fluorometer (Trilogy Laboratory Fluorometer, Turner Designs; Sunnyvale, California, USA) at excitation and emission wavelengths (λ) of 436 nm and 680 nm.



Figure 3 Nutrient diffusing substrate array for a single stream prior to deployment. Each treatment (nutrient and filter top; white top = porous glass, yellow top = cellulose sponge) was randomly placed on an L-bar and secured with silicone and zip-ties. The color of the plastic cup does not indicate any difference in treatment. Each treatment is replicated 5 times per filter top.


Figure 4 Nutrient diffusing substrate array deployed in the Yakima River in June 2020. The L-bars were secured in the stream with rebar stakes at the upstream end.

Water Quality

To understand how background stream nutrient levels influenced the biofilm response, water quality samples were collected by filtering site water through a glass fiber filter (1.0 μ m pore size) into an acid-washed HDPE bottle rinsed with filtered site water. Water samples were stored on ice until I returned to the lab, at which point they were frozen for later analysis of NH₄⁺, NO₃⁻, SRP, and DOC. Ammonium was measured with the fluorometric method (Taylor et al. 2008) using a Turner Designs benchtop fluorometer at excitation and emission wavelengths (λ) of 350 nm and 410 nm. Nitrate was measured using the cadmium reduction method (Brewer and Riley 1965) and SRP was measured using the molybdate method (Murphy and Riley 1962), both using a Seal AQ1 Discrete Analyzer (Seal AQ1, Seal Analytical; Mequon, Wisconsin, USA). The cadmium reduction method combines nitrite (NO_2^-) and NO_3^- , but since NO_2^- is usually below detection, hereafter we refer to these values as NO_3^- . For DOC analysis, samples were acidified to pH \leq 2 to purge inorganic carbon, and then measured with the infrared method (APHA 2017) using a Shimadzu TOC-L autoanalyzer (TOC-L Total Organic Carbon Analyzer; Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan).

Elemental Composition and Stable Isotopes

Prior to homogenizing fish carcasses to create the 3 separate NDS treatments, a subsample of ground individual carcass tissue, homogenized within individual, was collected for elemental composition and stable isotope analysis. These samples were collected from 10 of the least deteriorated mature lamprey carcasses (n = 5 pre-spawn female, n = 5 male of which 3 were post-spawn and 2 pre-spawn), 5 pre-spawn male salmon, and 6 fresh migrant lamprey (n = 3 female, n = 3 male; Table 1). I was unable to compare male and female salmon due to the limited availability of sexes in the salmon carcasses. Finally, a sample of Pacific lamprey eggs was collected from each sexually mature female lamprey and included as distinct tissue samples in elemental analysis (n = 5).

Carcass Type	Sex	Elemental Composition	NDS Treatment	Total n	
Savually Matura Lampray	Female	5*	15	22**	
	Male	5	7		
Enach Mignant Lamonay	Female	3	3	6	
Flesh Migrant Lamprey	Male	3	3	0	
Salmon	Male	5	4	9	

Table 1 Lamprey and salmon tissue samples used in elemental composition and NDS treatments.

*A sample of eggs were taken from each sexually mature female lamprey and included as a sample for elemental composition.

**Once the sub-sample for elemental composition was collected the remaining homogenized tissue was added to the NDS treatment, therefore "NDS Treatment" count includes carcasses in "Elemental Composition" count.

To analyze elemental and stable isotope composition, tissue samples were dried at 60°C until a constant weight was achieved, usually 24-48 hours (Weaver et al. 2018a). Samples were then ground by hand using a mortar and pestle, weighed into 1.0-1.5 mg subsamples, and sealed in tin capsules. Three analytical replicates per individual were sent to Washington State University's Stable Isotope Core Laboratory in Pullman, WA to analyze the % C, % N, δ^{13} C, and δ^{15} N composition. Isotope samples were converted to N₂ and CO₂ using an elemental analyzer (ECS 4010, Costech Analytical; Valencia, California, USA) and measured using a continuous flow isotope ratio mass spectrometer (Delta PlusXP, Thermofinniganm; Bremen, Germany). Lipids in tissue samples can negatively bias δ^{13} C values (Focken and Becker 1998). To mitigate this, I included an additional sample from each individual which received a Soxhlet/lipid extraction wash to provide a lipid correction factor to δ^{13} C values from the 3 analytical replicates (Anthony, Roby, and Turco 2000). Hereafter, only lipid corrected values are reported. Stable isotope ratios of N and C are expressed in parts per thousand or per mil (‰) and are calculated as:

$$\delta^{15}$$
N or δ^{13} C = ([R_{sample} – R_{standard}] / R_{standard}) × 1000

where R is the ratio of ¹⁵N:¹⁴N or ¹³C:¹²C. The isotopic composition of air and Vienna Peedee Belemite were used as standards for N and C respectively. Additionally, two analytical replicates per individual were sent to University of Idaho's Analytical Sciences Laboratory for phosphorous analysis where samples received a nitric acid digestion followed with inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectroscopy (Optima 8300 ICP-OES, PerkinElmer; Waltham, Massachusetts, USA).

Statistical Analysis

All data analyses were performed using R 4.0.3 (R Core Team 2020). Habitat and water quality data were compared between seasons using a paired Mann-Whitney U test due to small sample size. PAR data was collected for an unequal number of days at each site during the NDS deployments; therefore, PAR was ranked from highest to lowest from 1-10 (Table 3) based on the average pulses s⁻¹ over deployment duration and used as a predictive variable in models relating habitat parameters to stream biofilm response to added nutrients.

Nutrient limitation status of GPP, CR, and chlorophyll *a* was determined by a multi-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA) with the presence or absence of each nutrient as a main factor (Tank and Dodds 2003; Tank et al. 2017). Only presence or absence of N and P were included as main factors for GPP and chlorophyll *a* as I did not anticipate autotrophs to benefit from added organic carbon due to their ability to photosynthesize

and store carbon compounds (Everson et al. 1967). When necessary, data were transformed to meet the assumptions of ANOVA, and if transformation did not help the data meet model assumptions, untransformed data were used in a nonparametric factorial analysis via the aligned rank transformation (ART; Wobbrock et al. 2011) in the ARTool package (Kay and Wobbrock 2016). If a single factor or interaction was significant, I used interaction plots to evaluate nutrient limitation status.

Pearson or Spearman correlations were used to determine how well the tissue treatments in agar alleviated nutrient limitation compared to the added nutrients in agar according the methods outlined in Rüegg et al. (2011). The +N+P treatment was used in the autotrophic comparison, whereas the +N+P+C treatment wasused in the heterotrophic comparison. Because primary productivity was extremely low in the fall and many GPP calculations were 0, chlorophyll a was used as a proxy for autotrophic activity in all autotrophic-heterotrophic comparisons when season was a factor. To compare the autotrophic (chlorophyll a) and heterotrophic (CR) biofilm response to salmon and lamprey directly, I used an ANOVA with species interacting with treatment (i.e., tissue in agar versus tissue in nylon) and blocked by season. In a separate analysis restricted to the Swauk Creek summer deployment, I used a one-way ANOVA to compare calculated GPP, chlorophyll a, and CR response to fresh migrant (just arrived in the Columbia River) and mature (arrived on spawning grounds) lamprey tissue to understand how tissue from different stages of migrating lamprey influenced biofilm response. I compared the elemental composition and stable isotopes of mature lamprey and salmon, and among different lamprey tissue samples (sexually mature male, sexually mature female, fresh migrant male, fresh migrant female, and eggs) using an ANOVA or

Kruskal-Wallis test depending on whether or not data met assumptions for a parametric analysis as described below.

Linear mixed effects models, using "lme" function in the "nlme" package (Pinheiro et al. 2021), were used to predict how environmental variation (i.e., PAR, stream temperature, canopy cover, background nutrients, and season) influenced the biofilm response (chlorophyll *a* or CR) to the added nutrients, lamprey, and salmon treatments. For the models, biofilm response was quantified as the nutrient response ratio (NRR), which is the response to a given treatment relative to the response on the control within each stream+season which allows comparisons among streams and between seasons (Tank and Dodds 2003; Johnson et al. 2009). Tissue in agar was used as opposed to the tissue in nylon in order to compare explanatory variables to the nutrient treatments. Site was modeled as a random effect, and explanatory habitat characteristics were modeled as fixed effects (Table 2).

Data were tested for equal variance using Levene's test, in the "car" package (Fox Weisberg 2019), and data was tested for normality using the Anderson-Darling test in the "nortest" package (Gross and Ligges 2015). All data were transformed where appropriate in order to meet model and analysis assumptions, and the significance of all statistical tests was determined at $\alpha = 0.05$.

Table 2 Variables used in linear mixed effects models to best explain chlorophyll *a* and CR. PAR = photosynthetically active radiation, DIN = dissolved inorganic nitrogen, N = nitrogen, P = phosphorus, C = carbon, DOC = dissolved organic carbon.

Response	Random Effect
Chlorophyll a	Site
Community respiration	
Fixed Effect	
Discharge (m ³ /s)	Phosphate
PAR	DIN
Canopy openness (%)	Molar N:P
Season	Molar C:N
Temperature (°C)	Molar C:P
DOC	

CHAPTER III

RESULTS

Study Sites

Median substrate size, temperature (°C), dissolved oxygen (mg/L), stream discharge (m³/s), PAR, and canopy openness (%) varied among sites but not between seasons. Median substrate size ranged from 31-77 mm (Figure 5). Temperature ranged from 12.25-23.75°C in the summer and 4.85-13.50°C in the fall, but the difference between seasons was not significant (Mann-Whitney U test, p = 0.1), and there was no seasonal difference between dissolved oxygen (Mann-Whitney U test, p = 0.1; Table 3). Discharge did not vary seasonally (Mann-Whitney U test, p = 1); however, relative to the other discharge measurements, Yakima was an outlier in the summer, and Teanaway was an outlier in the fall (Table 3). The 5 highest PAR ranks occurred in the summer, whereas the lowest occurred in the fall, albeit the difference was not significant (Mann-Whitney U test, p = 0.06). Percent canopy openness did not differ between seasons (Mann-Whitney U test, p = 0.4) and had low variability among sites (Table 3). There was no seasonally significant difference between NH₄⁺, NO₃⁻, SRP, DOC, or molar N:P, C:N, or C:P (Mann-Whitney U test, p > 0.05; Figure 6).

Table 3 Habitat characterization of study sites. Temperature (Temp) and dissolved oxygen (DO) were measured during the deployment and retrieval of NDS arrays, and site average (1 standard error) is reported. Discharge and canopy openness were only measured during NDS deployment. Photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) was measured as a proprietary unit (pulses s⁻¹) and reported here as rank data, 1= high, 10 = low

Season	Site	Temp (°C)	DO (mg/L)	DO (%)	Discharge (m ³ /s)	PAR	Canopy Openness (%)
Summer	Taneum	15.50 (1.45)	9.30 (0.42)	92.70 (1.3)	0.46	1	100
	Manastash	16.95 (0.35)	9.24 (0.95)	95.45 (0.17)	0.93	3	99
	Yakima	12.25	10.13 (0.2)	94.50 (0.19)	4.51	2	95
	Teanaway	23.75	8.18 (0.45)	96.45 (0.415)	0.90	4	99
	Swauk	21.50 (0.3)	8.91 (2.45)	100.75 (0.28)	0.12	5	100
Fall	Taneum	13.50 (2.0)	9.89 (0.05)	94.75 (0.43)	0.79	б	99
	Manastash	9.00 (4.1)	10.93 (1.4)	93.90 (0.92)	0.70	7	99
	Yakima	12.70 (1.9)	9.71 (1.95)	91.35 (0.205)	0.15	9	100
	Teanaway	5.55 (0.85)	11.78 (0.15)	93.45 (0.275)	3.53	8	96
	Swauk	4.85 (0.75)	11.98 (0.55)	93.35 (0.295)	0.27	10	100



Figure 5 Cumulative substrate (n =100) measured along the intermediate axis, and median (dashed line) for a) Taneum, b) Manastash, c) Yakima, d) Teanaway, and e) Swauk.



Figure 6 Mean a) ammonium (NH_4^+) , b) nitrate (NO_3^-) , c) soluble reactive phosphorus (SRP), and d) dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations for each study site in summer and fall +/- 1 standard error. Teanaway and Swauk DOC only had 1 sample in the summer, therefore they do not have error bars.

Nutrient Limitation Status

Autotrophic nutrient demand shifted seasonally. In the summer, both GPP and chlorophyll *a* were N limited in 4 out of 5 sites. Gross primary production was not limited at Swauk Creek and chlorophyll *a* was N+P co-limited at Teanaway. In the fall, there was a shift towards no limitation, or an increase in the importance of P as a limiting nutrient. GPP was not limited in 4 out of 5 sites but was N limited in Teanaway although productivity was extremely low in all sites which resulted in a heavily zero-skewed GPP dataset. Surprisingly, GPP was inhibited by N at 3 sites and by P at 1 site during the fall. Chlorophyll *a* was N limited at Manastash and Yakima, N+P co-limited at Taneum and Swauk, and not limited at Teanaway (Figure 7).

Compared to patterns revealed by autotrophic metrics, heterotrophic limitation was more varied among sites and between seasons. In the summer, all sites were N limited except for Yakima which was N+C co-limited. Interestingly, C appeared to inhibit CR in Teanaway in the summer. The incidence of C and/or P limitation increased in the fall when Taneum, Manastash, and Swauk were N+P+C co-limited, Teanaway was C+P limited, and Yakima was C limited (Figure 7).



Figure 7 Nutrient limitation for gross primary production (GPP), chlorophyll *a* (Chl *a*), and community respiration (CR) for all 5 study sites in summer and fall. Limitation was either by N = nitrogen, P = phosphorous, C = carbon, or some combination, or was not limited by any nutrient used in the NDS (None).

Biofilm Response to Nutrient and Tissue Treatments

Tissue and nutrients relieved biofilm nutrient limitation, but the autotrophic food web response to either treatment was inconsistent for GPP and chlorophyll *a*. Biofilm NRR for GPP from the tissue in agar (LA and SA) was generally not correlated with the added nutrients (+N+P). The only significant GPP correlation between +N+P treatment and tissue was with SA in the fall (r = 0.59, p = 0.004), but this was likely driven by the heavily zero-skewed GPP values as it was not correlated with LA in either season or with SA in the summer (Figure 8).

Unlike GPP, NRR for biofilm chlorophyll *a* in response to salmon and lamprey was generally correlated with the NRR of the added +N+P. Both LA and SA were positively correlated to the +N+P treatment in the summer ($r_{LA} = 0.39$, $p_{LA} = 0.04905$; $r_{SA} = 0.68$, $p_{SA} < 0.001$), but not in the fall (Figure 8). Interestingly, there were several

instances where the +N+P treatment elicited a higher response than either tissue treatment (summer NRR was 10-15 for nutrients versus < 10 for tissue). The higher mean NRR for chlorophyll a suggests that algal biomass does not necessarily scale with autotrophic productivity measured as GPP.

The NRR for biofilm CR from the added tissue was generally correlated with NRR from the +N+P+C treatment. The LA treatment was correlated to the +N+P+C treatment in the summer (r = 0.59, p = 0.003, Figure 8), but not in the fall, whereas SA was correlated in both the summer (r = 0.61, p = 0.002, Figure 8), and fall (r = 0.41, p = 0.04, Figure 8). Interestingly, both LA and SA elicited a consistently higher response than +N+P+C in both seasons, a trend not seen in the autotrophic response (Figure 8).



Figure 8 Correlation plots comparing nutrient response ratios (NRR) of tissue (LA = lamprey in agar, top row; SA = salmon in agar, bottom row) to added nutrient treatments in agar across seasons. Gross primary production (GPP) and chlorophyll *a* (Chl *a*) response to tissue treatments are compared to the +N+P treatment whereas community respiration (CR) response to tissue is compared to the +N+P+C treatment. The dashed line is the 1:1 line. Correlations performed with a Pearson's correlation are indicated with (^P) next to test statistics, other correlations are Spearman's rank correlation; significant p-values are bolded.

Biofilm Response to Lamprey and Salmon Tissue Treatments

When comparing the seasonal response of chlorophyll *a* to lamprey and salmon tissue in different treatments (agar versus nylon), I found that season was a better predictor than either tissue type or treatment. There was no difference in chlorophyll *a* response between lamprey and salmon, or between tissue in agar and tissue in nylon in either summer or fall. However, chlorophyll *a* was significantly higher in the summer compared to the fall (ANOVA, p = 0.001; Figure 9) where mean NRRs were roughly

40% higher. In contrast, CR was higher in the fall compared to the summer (ANOVA, p < 0.001; Figure 10a), where mean NRRs were roughly 60% higher. CR had a higher response to salmon compared to lamprey, and the tissue in nylon treatment elicited a higher response than the tissue in agar treatment (ANOVA, $p_{\text{Species X Amendment}} = 0.04$, Figure 10b).



Figure 9 Seasonal nutrient response ratio (NRR) of Chlorophyll *a* to different fish treatments (lamprey and salmon) and amendment type (tissue in agar and tissue in nylon) blocked by season (summer and fall). Means indicated by dashed line. Bolded p-values indicate significance at $\alpha = 0.05$.



Figure 10 Seasonal response of community respiration (CR) nutrient response ratio (NRR) to different fish treatments (lamprey and salmon) and amendment type (tissue in agar and tissue in nylon) blocked by season. Bolded p-values indicate significance at $\alpha = 0.05$. a) boxplot showing CR response to seasons; means indicated by dashed line; b) interaction plot showing CR response to tissue type and amendment.

Although upstream dam passage may not result in high lamprey mortality, prespawn mortality can still occur in river systems prior to spawning (Keefer et al. 2020), therefore it is possible that stream maturing lamprey elemental composition could differ from the time of fresh water re-entry to the time they spawn, potentially and influencing the biofilm response. To test this, I included fresh migrant lamprey tissue in the Swauk summer NDS deployment to determine if the nutrients in the different migration stages (fresh migrant versus sexually mature) influenced the ecosystem response. However, this comparison revealed no difference in autotrophic response (ANOVA, $p_{GPP} = 0.3$, $p_{chl a} =$ 0.1) to sexually mature or fresh migrant lamprey, and no difference in tissue in agar or tissue in nylon (Figure 11). Moreover, there was no significant difference in CR response between fresh migrant tissue or sexually mature tissue (Figure 11), but CR was significantly higher in fresh migrant in agar compared to fresh migrant in tissue (ANOVA, p = 0.02, Figure 11).



Figure 11 Gross primary production (GPP), chlorophyll *a* (Chl *a*), and community respiration (CR) response to fresh migrant and sexually mature lamprey tissue in Swauk Creek in the summer nutrient diffusing substrate deployment. Dashed lines indicate mean; tukey letters indicate significant differences.

Elemental Composition and Stable Isotopes

Salmon tissue was composed of 2.0-2.5% P, significantly more than mature lamprey which ranged from 0.4-1.0% P (ANOVA, p < 0.001, Table 4). Lamprey eggs were composed of approximately 1.3-1.4% P, however this was not significantly different from sexually mature pre-spawn female lamprey (Kruskal-Wallis, p = 0.1). There were no significant differences in salmon and lamprey % C or % N, which ranged from 48.5-54.4% C, and 10.8-14.2% N (Kruskal-Wallis, $p_{carbon} = 0.06$, $p_{nitrogen} = 0.1$). Despite no observed differences in % C and % N between the two species, on average, tule fall Chinook salmon weighed 1774.7 g, whereas a sexually mature lamprey weighed 252.4 g respectively. Therefore, the salmon tissue had 49959.2 mg/kg C, 13025.5 mg/kg N, and 2170.0 mg/kg P, which is approximately 6.6 times more C, 7.7 times more N and 19.2 times more P than the lamprey tissue, due to higher body mass and the presence of bones in salmon (Table 4). Fresh migrant and sexually mature lamprey did not vary in elemental composition. Fresh migrant lamprey was composed of approximately 65.3-66.7% C, 5.3-6.4% N, and 0.3-0.4% P compared to 48.4-59.6% C, 8.8-14.2% N, and 0.4-1.0% P for sexually mature lamprey (Table 4).

Table 4 Sample size, mean (standard error) aggregated mass of fish, mass of carbon (C), nitrogen (N), and phosphorous (P), as well as molar C:N, and molar N:P. "Avg. Mature" is the average of 5 mature male and 5 mature female lamprey, and "Avg. Migrant" is the average of the 3 fresh migrant male and 3 fresh migrant female lamprey.

Tissue Type	n	Mass (g)	C (mg/kg)	N (mg/kg)	P (mg/kg)	C:N	N:P
Salmon	5	1774.7 (109.3)	49959.2 (525.2)	13025.5 (169.5)	2170.0 (93.0)	4.5 (0.1)	13.4 (0.4)
Mature M	5	238.7 (22.2)	51539.6 (2076.2)	12763.5 (1024.1)	694.0 (71.7)	4.9 (0.7)	42.6 (6.2)
Mature F	5	266.1 (40.5)	53097.1 (551.0)	11669.8 (419.4)	867.0 (67.0)	5.3 (0.2)	30.9 (3.7)
Migrant M	3	351.0 (19.6)	66164.6 (386.7)	5831.2 (325.0)	358.3 (19.6)	12.8 (0.5)	30.5 (0.7)
Migrant F	3	416.3 (48.0)	65958.3 (402.9)	6001.5 (213.5)	435.0 (7.6)	13.3 (0.8)	36.2 (2.7)
Avg. Mature	10	252.4 (22.2)	52318.4 (1045.4)	12216.6 (552.6)	780.5 (54.5)	5.1 (0.4)	36.7 (3.9)
Avg. Migrant	6	383.6 (27.4)	66061.4 (254.0)	5916.3 (178.0)	396.7 (19.6)	13.1 (0.4)	33.4 (1.8)

There was no significant difference in δ^{15} N (Kruskall-Wallis, p =1.0; Figure 12) enrichment between mature lamprey and salmon, which ranged between 14.7-15.7‰. Salmon displayed the highest δ^{13} C enrichment with an average of -16.5‰ compared to the lamprey which averaged -18.2‰ (Figure 12). The δ^{13} C signature differed between salmon and mature lamprey, and between female and male mature lamprey (ANOVA, p_{female} < 0.001, p_{male} < 0.001; Figure 12). There was no significant difference in δ^{13} C enrichment between male and female mature lamprey (ANOVA, p = 1.0), Enrichment of δ^{13} C did not vary between fresh migrant and mature lamprey and ranged from -19.4 to -17.6‰. Fresh migrant female and lamprey eggs were the most heavily enriched with δ^{15} N, with means of 16.2‰ (Figure 13). Fresh migrant male and sexually mature male which were the least enriched with means of 14.8‰, and 15.1‰, respectively (Figure 13). Migrant females were significantly more enriched in ¹⁵N than migrant males (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum, p = 0.046), and lamprey eggs were significantly more enriched than migrant males (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum, p = 0.01), mature males (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum, p = 0.04), and mature females (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum, p = 0.001).



Figure 12 Mean (+/- 1 standard error) of the isotopic relationships between sexually mature male and female Pacific lamprey and salmon.



Figure 13 Mean (+/- 1) standard error of the isotopic relationships between lamprey tissue samples.

Factors Influencing Food Web Response

I used linear mixed effects models to understand how environmental factors influenced the autotrophic and heterotrophic response to added nutrients, LA, and SA. Due to low productivity and the high number of instances where GPP ≤ 0 in the fall samples, GPP was not included in the mixed effects modeling. Instead chlorophyll *a* was used as a metric for the autotrophic response, which was consistently explained by seasonal factors. The final mixed effects model for chlorophyll *a* in response to the +N+P treatment indicated that chlorophyll *a* was higher in the summer (lme, p = 0.002, Figure 9), and decreased with increasing % open canopy (lme, p = 0.0002, data not shown). For the lamprey in agar tissue treatment, the chlorophyll *a* NRR was also higher in the summer (lme, p = 0.004, Figure 9). Finally, the chlorophyll *a* NRR response to salmon tissue in agar was higher in the summer (lme, p = 0.0004, Figure 9) and increased with increasing molar N:P ratio of dissolved water column nutrients (lme, p = 0.046, data not shown).

Community respiration was also best explained by seasonal factors. The final mixed effects model for CR NRR in response to +N+P+C suggested that CR was significantly higher in the fall (lme, p < 0.001), increased with increasing discharge (lme, p < 0.001, Figure 14) and with decreased % open canopy (lme, p = 0.007, data not shown). However, the observed increase in CR associated with increased discharge could be driven by site-specific factors in the Yakima in the summer, and Teanaway in the fall, outliers that drive the significant regression (Figure 14). The final mixed effects model for CR in response to LA included site as a random effect and suggested that CR increased with decreasing temperature (lme, p < 0.001, Figure 15). Finally, the CR response to salmon included site as a random effect and suggested that CR was higher in the fall, (lme, p < 0.001, Figure 10b) and decreased with increasing molar N:P ratios of dissolved stream nutrients (lme, p < 0.001, Figure 16).



Figure 14 Relationship between community respiration nutrient response ratio (CR NRR) in response to +N+P+C treatment, and stream discharge. Best-fit line shown in black.



Figure 15 Relationship between community respiration nutrient response ratio (CR NRR) in response to lamprey in agar treatment and temperature (p < 0.0001). Temperature was the final main effect, with site treated as a random effect in a mixed-effects model to explain CR NRR for the lamprey treatment. Best-fit line shown in black.



Figure 16 Relationship between community respiration nutrient response ratio (CR NRR) from salmon in agar treatment and water column molar nitrogen to phosphate (N:P) ratio. Best-fit line shown in black.

CHAPTER IV

DISCUSSION

Because salmon are known as important resource subsidies in oligotrophic PNW streams, resource managers commonly use salmon carcass supplementation to increase stream food web productivity to mitigate for declining salmon runs (Kohler et al. 2012). Although studies have demonstrated a positive food web response to the presence of salmon carcasses via increased biofilm biomass and increased macroinvertebrate abundance, reviewed in Janetski et al. (2009), this salmon-centric approach has either ignored or disregarded other anadromous fish species as potential resource subsidies. A side-by-side comparison of the benthic biofilm response to Pacific lamprey, and Chinook salmon tissue revealed that lamprey and salmon tissue alleviated nutrient limitation to a similar or greater degree as added nutrients. Chlorophyll a biomass responded similarly to both tissue types and was higher in the summer when light availability was greater. Community respiration had a higher response to salmon than lamprey and was higher in the fall. Although I found no difference in % C or % N between mature lamprey and salmon, or between mature lamprey and fresh migrants, an individual salmon can transport more carbon and nitrogen per fish compared to an individual lamprey due to larger body size. While salmon have higher % P, likely due to bones, lamprey eggs were also relatively high in % P, making them an important P source. In the N-limited streams that I studied, when standardized for body mass, lamprey were an equally important resource subsidy as salmon, particularly for the autotrophic community in the summer when salmon would not be spawning.

Seasonal Patterns in Stream Nutrient Limitation

Nutrient limitation of autotrophic and heterotrophic biofilms shifted seasonally in all streams in my study. Although other studies in streams in the Olympic Peninsula (Morley et al. 2016), Idaho (Marcarelli et al. 2009; Sanderson et al. 2009), Ohio (Olapade and Leff 2005), and northern Michigan (Hoellein et al. 2010) have noted similar seasonal shifts in nutrient limitation, their noted seasonal patterns were not as pronounced as I observed. These prior studies found N and P limiting in both seasons, but that the seasonal change varied including a shift in the primary limiting nutrient (Morley et al. 2016), the seasonal response was not uniform across sites (Marcarelli et al. 2009; Sanderson et al. 2009; Hoellein et al. 2010), or the seasons differed in magnitude but not nutrient treatment (Olapade and Leff 2005). In contrast, I found a remarkable consistency of N limitation in the summer for autotrophic and heterotrophic communities among sites. However, in the fall the occurrence of no-limitation and P co-limitation increased in the autotrophic community, and that the heterotrophic community increased in C limitation or-colimitation.

The frequent N limitation I observed in my study across autotrophic and heterotrophic communities is likely due to the oligotrophic conditions of my study streams (USEPA 2000). Across seasons, molar N:P ratio ranged from 0.46-6.07 (Figure 16), much lower than the 17:1 ratio identified for optimal growing conditions for benthic microalgae (Hillebrand and Sommer 1999), and much lower than the oft-cited Redfield ratio (16:1; Redfield 1958), suggesting overall N limitation. The widespread N limitation can be further explained by landscape factors; the igneous rocks of the Cascade Mountains (McBirney 1978) release P when weathering (Dillon and Kirchner 1975),

often making N the limiting nutrient, as seen in many of Washington's surface waters (Thut and Haydu 1971). Although background nutrients did not explain the biofilm response, background N:P and C:P were both collinear with discharge. Therefore, stream discharge outliers, Yakima in the summer and Teanaway in the fall, that were positively related to nutrient limitation may have been conflated with nutrient concentrations, making it likely that background nutrients can be correlated, or predict biofilm response as seen in other studies (Tank and Dodds 2003; Rüegg et al. 2011; Reisinger et al. 2016).

Seasonal changes in light availability in northern latitudes likely explain the low productivity and change in limitation status observed in the fall autotrophic communities at my study sites. Other studies have noted low productivity in the fall (Rüegg et al. 2011) and no nutrient limitation of GPP (Johnson et al. 2009). Although I did find instances of nutrient limitation for chlorophyll a in the fall, the overall low rate of productivity suggests that light availability primarily controlled autotrophic metabolism (Ambrose et al. 2004), as PNW streams have less light in the fall (Morley et al. 2016) due to shorter daylight hours and lower sun angle. Other studies have noted the increasing importance of P in both autotrophic and heterotrophic communities in the fall (Marcarelli et al. 2009; Morley et al. 2016) or an increase in N+P co-limitation for chlorophyll a (Tank and Dodds 2003; Marcarelli et al. 2009; Sanderson et al. 2009; Hoellein et al. 2010), also observed in my study streams. Some studies have attributed the increased importance of P due to the coupled relationship of nutrients (Morley et al. 2016), where the addition of one causes limitation by another (Elser et al. 1996; Schade et al. 2011). Although this could be the case in my study as well, the lack of seasonal change in background nutrients suggests that shifting nutrient limitation pattern between seasons is

likely driven by different stoichiometric demands driven by a shift in biofilm species composition (Francoeur 2001; Dodds et al. 2002).

An increase in C limitation in fall heterotrophic communities is likely driven by the decrease in available labile C sources due to the decline in autotrophic activity (Olapade and Leff 2005). Although heterotrophic decomposers receive an influx of allochthonous organic matter from leaf litter input in the fall, this material can be composed of less desirable heavy-weight organic compounds such as lignin and cellulose (Ward 1986), compared to the glucose used in my NDS arrays. For example, heterotrophic communities will select for labile C when available, especially when chlorophyll a concentrations are low (Olapade and Leff 2005) consistent with the finding of increased C demand in the fall by heterotrophs in my study streams. Moreover, this could explain why C was generally not seen as a limiting nutrient for heterotrophs in summer, when high algal activity would have produced an abundance of low molecular weight carbon compounds made available by "sloppy feeding" of herbivores (Sterner 1990). While the fall increase in C demand was the most consistent pattern observed in my study streams, I also saw somewhat higher demand for P by heterotrophs in the fall. Other studies have similarly found an increase in P limitation in fall heterotrophic communities (Rüegg et al. 2011) and have attributed this to changing stoichiometric demands between different biofilm communities (Elser et al. 1996).

Lamprey and Salmon Resource Subsidies

In the side-by-side comparison performed here, both Pacific lamprey and Chinook salmon alleviated biofilm nutrient limitation at least as well as nutrient addition. For example, the positive correlation in NRRs from chlorophyll *a* biomass in response to the

fish tissue in agar treatments and the added nutrients indicate that either tissue type can stimulate algal production in the summer. Furthermore, heterotrophic activity had a higher response to both tissue types compared to the added nutrients. These patterns were similarly seen by Rüegg et al. (2011) in a fall study based in southeast Alaska using nutrient diffusing substrata amended with pink salmon tissue, and were interpreted to suggest that salmon can alleviate nutrient limitation. In contrast to chlorophyll a and CR patterns, I did not see a consistent GPP response to nutrients and LA or SA which could be due to scouring of algae (Olapade and Leff 2005) or insect grazing (Marcarelli et al. 2012) in the summer, and in the fall could be due to overall low productivity. Suppressed autotrophic metabolism in the fall could be due to the fact that although benthic biofilms are mutualistic communities composed of diverse constituents, autotrophic and heterotrophic components simultaneously compete for necessary nutrients (Daufresne and Loreau 2001; Marcarelli et al. 2009) and heterotrophs could be more competitive in lower light conditions. Regardless, my results show that either lamprey or salmon MDN can produce a high autotrophic and heterotrophic response.

Stoichiometric differences in lamprey and salmon tissue coupled with differing stoichiometric demands of biofilm communities (Elser et al. 1996) and seasonal environmental controls (Morley et al. 2016) likely facilitate how anadromous resource subsidies would be received in the upper Yakima basin. Overall, I found that chlorophyll *a* biomass was approximately 2 times higher in the summer, whereas CR was approximately 2 times higher in the fall. It is worth noting that several studies have found that riparian canopy can prevent an autotrophic response to added nutrients (Ambrose et al. 2004; Weaver et al. 2016), however much of the interior Columbia River basin is

considered shrub-steppe (Benson et al. 2011) with streams having limited riparian cover. Community respiration had a higher response to SA compared to LA suggesting that the timing of nutrient availability from spawning lamprey and salmon may influence the biofilm response depending on shifting stoichiometric demands in the receiving ecosystem among seasons. Stoichiometric demands, where organisms require certain C:N:P ratios to facilitate proper growth and function (Elser et al. 1996), can explain differences in receiving ecosystems (Sterner et al. 1992). For example, the instances where the +N+P treatment elicited a higher response than LA and SA in conjunction with the uniformly higher CR response to LA and SA is likely due to stochiometric demands of biofilms and C:N:P ratios of the treatments (Elser et al. 1996). I found that lamprey and salmon had molar C:N:P ratios of approximately 187:37:1 and 60:13:1 respectively, whereas the nutrient treatments were all 1:1:1. Therefore, LA and SA treatments likely stimulated productivity to the point where N limitation was relieved and P became limiting (Schade et al. 2011), whereas the +N+P treatment met that demand, allowing higher algal growth. Similarly, the higher C and P demand by fall heterotrophic communities was likely met by the presence of more labile C in the tissue treatments (Rüegg et al. 2011; Hoellein et al. 2010), and the higher P content of salmon due to bones and scales (DaCosta and Stern 1958; Hendrixson et al. 2007) compared to lamprey. Furthermore, the higher autotrophic response in the summer, and higher heterotrophic response in the fall is likely due to competition between biofilm communities (Daufresne and Loreau 2001; Marcarelli et al. 2009), where greater light availability in the summer can provide autotrophs the advantage over heterotrophs (Ambrose et al. 2004), thus determining the limitation status of biofilm communities. Therefore, depending on the

seasonal demand by different biofilm community constituents and the nutrients delivered by the specific resource subsidy, the stream ecosystem response will likely differ.

The influx of nutrients from Pacific lamprey has the potential to stimulate indirect trophic transfers of energy as documented in anadromous sea lamprey (Weaver et al. 2016; Weaver et al. 2018b) and salmon (Bilby et al. 1996; Naiman et al. 2002). The timing of anadromous lamprey spawning in the spring and early summer can stimulate autotrophic production while simultaneously extending the MDN signature into the food web and increasing stream production for longer periods of time. Spring and early summer can be characterized by high in-stream nutrient demand due to increased algal activity (Hoellein et al. 2010). Given the autotrophic nutrient limitation seen in my study and by others in the region (Morley et al. 2016; Reisingeret al. 2016), nutrients provided from spawning and post-spawn Pacific lamprey may arrive at an ecologically critical time when they can alleviate benthic biofilm nutrient limitation. Furthermore, the addition of MDN from spawning Pacific lamprey likely extends the temporal availability of MDN to be incorporated into a food web. Given that I did not find any difference in the ¹⁵N signature of lamprey and salmon (Minagawa and Wada 1984), some studies that have attributed historic MDN signatures to the presence of salmon may have inadvertently underrepresented anadromous spawning Pacific lamprey. This is especially true where studies have found extended spring MDN signatures along with the presence of larval Pacific lamprey within the study reach (Bilby et al. 1996) or when stable isotopes were used to reconstruct consumer diets (Hilderbrand et al. 1996). Lastly, fresh migrant and mature lamprey elicit the same food web response, suggesting they can promote indirect food web productivity at any migratory stage in addition to acting as a direct resource.

Therefore, during their spawning period, Pacific lamprey provide the necessary nutrients to alleviate benthic biofilms in the Yakima River basin, and other similarly N-limited basins, thus stimulating bottom up food web productivity.

Although tule fall Chinook salmon would not spawn in the Yakima basin, they were the only carcasses available at the start of this study. Their N:P elemental composition appears to be somewhat lower compared to other Pacific salmon species. The C:N ratio of salmon used in this study was 4.5:1, comparable to a range of 3.7:1-5.9:1 depending on species (Lyle and Elliott 1998; Johnston et al. 2004; Rüegg et al. 2011). Although I did not include the head of the salmon in my study, which is likely a substantial source of P (DaCosta and Stern 1958), I found a lower N:P ratio of 13.4:1 compared to 18.7:1 for other Chinook salmon (Larkin and Slaney 1997), or 24:1 for coho salmon (Rüegg et al. 2011). This difference is likely due to a lower N content as opposed to a higher P content in the salmon used in my study, as tule fall Chinook do not need as many stored reserves compared to their long-distance migrating counterparts because tule fall Chinook salmon do not migrate far prior to spawning (Wyndoski and Whitney 2003). A study based on Columbia River migrating Chinook salmon found that along a 920 km migration, male Chinook salmon utilized 82% of somatic energy reserves and began metabolizing proteins to develop secondary sexual characteristics (Hendry and Berg 1999; Bowerman et al. 2017). Given that spring and summer Chinook in the Yakima River migrate approximately 744.9 km to Roza Dam (roughly 60.7-76.1 km downstream) of my upper sites), it is possible that by the time they metabolize energy and protein reserves, they might have a lower N:P ratio similar to the tule fall Chinook used in my study. Regardless of the elemental composition of the salmon I used, the only other

salmonid species spawning during the summer deployments of my study would be steelhead (*O. mykiss*) which do not have obligate semelparous life histories in the Yakima basin (Yakama Nation 2019) and would not provide the same post-spawn resource subsidy as Pacific salmon or Pacific lamprey. Therefore, my findings that Pacific lamprey can stimulate autotrophic activity in the summer are relevant given that Pacific lamprey would be the only anadromous fish providing this kind of resource subsidy in these streams at that time.

Management Implications

Anthropogenic interference and prevention of resource flows from anadromous fish (i.e., dam construction, water diversions, overfishing), likely have far-reaching consequences (Larsen et al. 2016) for Pacific lamprey, salmon, and other species that have co-evolved (Close et al. 2002; Miller 2012) to rely on the annual, regular supply of MDN. In fact, low amounts of MDN entering PNW streams (Gresh et al. 2000) resulting from reduced anadromous fish runs have likely decreased in-stream productivity and affected subsequent adult returns (Naiman et al. 2002). For example, decreasing numbers of returning adult salmon reduce overall stream productivity, thus reducing juvenile survival, which results in fewer adult returns, ultimately decreasing a stream's ability to support healthy fish populations (Bilby et al. 1996). Conversly, restoration efforts that increase spawner abundance can create a positive feedback loop, whereby decomposition of spawned out adult carcasses benefit emerging fish via increased stream productivity, which increases the chance of juvenile survival and ultimately leads to increased spawner abundance (Bilby et al. 1996; Naiman et al. 2002; Weaver et al. 2018b). Given that the
upper Yakima River basin has oligotrophic nutrient levels (USEPA 2000) and mostly Nlimited biofilm activity, even small amounts of N are likely to stimulate food web productivity (Bilby et al. 1996). Therefore, successful Pacific lamprey restoration efforts could result in substantial increases in food web productivity in the upper Yakima basin. As seen in this study, Pacific lamprey resource subsidies can alleviate nutrient limitation and increase biofilm productivity, which should result in more energy transferred to higher consumers via indirect, bottom-up mechanisms (Bilby et al. 1996; Naiman et al. 2002). Although I did not examine direct pathways, others have observed consumption of lamprey eggs and carcasses by stream consumers demonstrating their importance (Close et al. 2002; Arakawa and Lampman 2020), and both pathways would ultimately stimulate the positive feedback loop to increase stream productivity.

If Pacific lamprey populations recover to the target goal of 28,000-35,000 within the Yakima River basin (Ralph Lampman, unpublished data), this would equate to approximately 3700-4600 kg of C, 800-1050 kg of N and 5.5-6.9 kg of P added to the basin from carcasses alone. Spawner densities would determine if this amount of lamprey-MDN would contribute to a reach-scale effect, however sea lamprey studies on the east coast suggest that that densities of approximately 50 carcasses km⁻¹ (Hogg et al. 2013) could increase algal biomass and macroinvertebrate MDN enrichment directly downstream of the carcasses via indirect, bottom-up trophic transfers (Weaver et al. 2016). Although anadromous sea lamprey are larger than Pacific lamprey (Clemens et al. 2010) and can therefore transport more MDN per fish, target population goals of 28,000-35,000 Pacific lamprey equate to an average of 91.6 adults per km throughout the mainstem Yakima River. This density is theoretically possible, given that Brumo and

Markle (2006) reported 48 adult Pacific lamprey/km in a coastal stream in Oregon, and traditional ecological knowledge suggests that lamprey may have been the dominant biomass in some streams (Petersen 2006; Miller 2012), especially where waterfalls were a barrier to salmon. Therefore larger Pacific lamprey populations that result from sustained restoration efforts could then elicit a similar indirect effect as seen in salmon studies (Zhang et al. 2003; Hood et al. 2019; Kaylor et al. 2020). Moreover, if post-spawn Pacific lamprey carcasses accumulate in depositional areas in conjunction with increased in-stream habitat complexity (Dunkle et al. 2020), then their subsidy effect may be more concentrated in those areas creating a hot spot (McClain et al. 2003; Dunkle 2017) of productivity.

Fortunately salmon and lamprey have similar distributions (Wicks-Arshack et al. 2018) and face similar conservation challenges, therefore, inclusive restoration efforts such as habitat restoration have the potential to benefit both species (Clemens et al. 2017). Unfortunately, some conservation efforts specifically geared toward salmon (i.e., fish passage structures, water diversion bypass screens) have likely unwittingly contributed to lamprey declines. Ironically, salmon ladders built to facilitate salmon passage at mainstem dams have created passage barriers for lamprey and have been identified as one of the most immediate threats faced by Pacific lamprey populations (Clemens et al. 2017, CRITFC 2011). Poor lamprey passage likely caused the local extirpation of Pacific lamprey in the upper Yakima basin as Pacific lamprey had not been documented above Roza Dam until the Yakama Nation translocated adults in 2015. Although there have been minor passage improvement projects, telemetry studies by the

Yakama Nation have determined that Roza Dam continues to act as a passage barrier for lamprey and will be the focus of future restoration work (Lampman 2017a).

Although Pacific lamprey populations in the PNW are at historically low levels, there are several reasons to celebrate. For example, adult translocation efforts have been successful, as Yakama Nation biologists and staff found larval Pacific lamprey above Roza Dam 1 year after adult translocation efforts began (Lampman et al. 2016). Although lamprey passage at Roza Dam still requires lamprey passage structures, the presence of larval lamprey will likely support lamprey recolonization due to the presence of larval pheromones which attract spawning adults (Sorensen et al. 2005; Close et al. 2009; Yun et al. 2011). Furthermore, there have been several success stories where the removal of dams that had previously been a passage barrier for lamprey have almost immediately resulted in lamprey recolonization (Jolley et al. 2018; Hess et al. 2021), suggesting that improved lamprey passage significantly increase lamprey spawner abundance.

It is likely that the health and future of lamprey and salmon populations are intertwined through direct and indirect relationships. As a direct relationship, Chinook salmon and other marine fish populations and Pacific lamprey returns are positively correlated, likely due to higher marine food sources for both (Murauskas et al. 2013). Salmon eat dead larval lamprey (Arakawa and Lampman 2020), migrating lamprey act as salmon predation buffers, and spawning lamprey provide carcass and egg material available for direct consumption (Close et al. 2002; Kaylor et al. 2020). Indirectly, lamprey and salmon likely contribute to the increased growth of larval lamprey and juvenile salmon via a reciprocally beneficial positive feedback loop. For example, salmon stimulate stream food web activity in the fall (Bilby et al. 1996; Wipfli et al. 1998;

Chaloner et al. 2002; Zhang et al. 2003), increasing autochthonous production which is then available for larval lamprey (Evans and Bauer 2016). Similarly I have demonstrated that Pacific lamprey can stimulate autochthonous production, which can then increase available food sources for juvenile salmon via indirect trophic transfers (Verspoor et al. 2011; Weaver et al. 2016). Overall, my study demonstrates that reintroducing Pacific lamprey to the upper Yakima River basin, and possibly other basins with similar nutrient limitation patterns, will likely increase productivity in stream food webs that ultimately support larval lamprey and juvenile salmon as well as resident aquatic species and terrestrial species that utilize stream food webs.

Future Studies

Future studies that attempt to estimate how stream food webs will respond to an anadromous resource subsidy at the basal level (biofilm response) via an NDS approach should be able to use the methods outlined by Ruegg et al. (2011) and implemented in this study. Prior to my study, Rüegg et al. (2011) had added salmon tissue in agar as an NDS amendment, whereas my study added to this method by including a treatment of homogenized fish tissue in nylon, which more closely mimics a fish carcass in a stream. Based on my findings, there was no significant difference in the chlorophyll *a* response to tissue in agar or nylon, therefore 10% w/v for fish tissue in agar can measure the autotrophic response as well as tissue in nylon. However, I found that the use of fish tissue in agar. This suggests that using 10% w/v for fish tissue in agar may be a conservative estimate of the heterotrophic response compared to fish tissue in a stream. This methodological

information is useful when there may not be enough carcasses available to perform stream carcass subsidy studies as seen in salmon research (see Janetski et al. 2009), but where researchers are still interested in estimating how low population fish carcasses, such as Pacific lamprey, could influence stream food webs.

Given that PNW rivers historically received reliable pulses of anadromous resource subsidies throughout the year, the high amount of carcass material and nutrients this provided likely drove both direct and indirect pathways. This is important as resource subsidies may not be received equally even when available to species in similar trophic levels. For example, Kaylor et al. (2020) found that salmon carcasses contributed to stream food webs directly via juvenile salmonid feeding, however non-salmonid native fish benefitted via an indirect food web pathway, suggesting that the addition of a wellknown subsidy may not directly impact different species in the same way. Similarly, Arakawa and Lampman (2020) found that different piscivorous fish species have different rates of predation on larval lamprey. Therefore, although my study determined how the basal food web responds to lamprey carcasses, how indirect food web effects benefit other species remains poorly understood. If future studies utilized lamprey carcasses in similar methods as salmon carcass subsidy studies (Wipfli et al. 1998; Morley et al. 2016; Kaylor et al. 2020) to track the trophic transfer of energy via stable isotopes, this would fill a large knowledge gap in our understanding of the nuanced pathways that lamprey can act as a resource subsidy.

Furthermore, as restoration efforts increase the possibility for bigger lamprey and salmon populations, it is important to understand how each species will affect the other. For example, while we know that increased salmon (Wipfli et al. 1998; Naiman et al. 2002)

and lamprey (Weaver et al. 2018b) spawner abundance can initiate a positive feedback loop to support future spawners, few studies have researched how a lamprey-initiated positive feedback can impact salmon, and vice-versa. Therefore, future studies should focus on how the presence of adult salmon might influence larval lamprey, and how adult lamprey might influence juvenile salmon. This information could contribute to a better understanding of the relationship between lamprey and salmon, and help to guide future management decision making.

Conclusion

Pacific salmon have long been recognized for their important role in linking marine systems to oligotrophic river systems via MDN transport, thus stimulating food web activity through indirect (bottom-up) and direct pathways that benefit the receiving stream ecosystem, the riparian corridor, and upland species that depend on stream ecosystems. This dogma is so well known that resource managers actively add salmon carcasses and salmon carcass analogs to streams to compensate for diminished salmon returns (Kohler et al. 2012; Marcarelli et al. 2014). This salmon-centric view disregards the importance of other anadromous species such as Pacific lamprey, which once dominated anadromous returns in some streams (Petersen 2006; Miller 2012). By performing a side-by-side comparison of autotrophic and heterotrophic biofilm response to nutrients transported by Pacific lamprey and Pacific salmon in the upper Yakima River basin, I demonstrated that lamprey elicit the same autotrophic response as salmon. Although salmon are larger than lamprey and can therefore transport more nutrients on an individual basis, the stoichiometric composition of Pacific lamprey is in the correct proportion to alleviate biofilm nutrient limitation during Pacific lamprey spawning months in late spring through early summer. This suggests that lamprey may be able to facilitate an autotrophic response in other regions where N is a limiting nutrient as it is in many PNW streams (Thut and Haydu 1971). Cumulatively, my results suggest that lamprey may provide important MDN at a time when autotrophic and heterotrophic pathways experience nutrient limitation. Overall, the results of this study demonstrate that lamprey are an equally important subsidy of MDN as salmon, and restoration of lamprey populations should achieve similar ecological benefits as salmon population restoration.

REFERENCES

Ambrose, E. Heather, Margaret A. Wilzbach, and Kenneth W. Cummins. 2004. "Periphyton Response to Increased Light and Salmon Carcass Introduction in Northern California Streams." Journal of the North American Benthological Society 23 (4): 701–12.

Anthony, J. A., D. D. Roby, and K. R. Turco. 2000. "Lipid Content and Energy Density of Forage Fishes from the Northern Gulf of Alaska." Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 248 (1): 53–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0981(00)00159-3.

APHA. 2017. Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater, 23rd Edition. Washington, DC: American Public Health Association.

Arakawa, Hiroaki, and Ralph T. Lampman. 2020. "An Experimental Study to Evaluate Predation Threats on Two Native Larval Lampreys in the Columbia River Basin, USA." Ecology of Freshwater Fish 29 (4): 611–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/eff.12537.

Baker, C., C. McVay. 2016. Willamette Falls Lamprey Study. The Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon, Branch of Natural Resources Fisheries Research. Project Number: 2008-308-00 Contract: 67669

Beamish, Richard J. 1980. "Adult Biology of the River Lamprey (Lampetra Ayresi) and the Pacific Lamprey (Lampetra Tridentate) from the Pacific Coast of Canada." Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 37 (11): 1906–23. https://doi.org/10.1139/f80-232.

Benson, J. E., R.T. Tveten, M. G. Asher and P.W. Dunwiddie. 2011. Shrub-Steppe and Grassland Restoration Manual for the Columbia River Basin

Bilby, Robert E., Brian R. Fransen, and Peter A. Bisson. 1996. "Incorporation of Nitrogen and Carbon from Spawning Coho Salmon into the Trophic System of Small Streams: Evidence from Stable Isotopes." Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 53 (1): 164–73. https://doi.org/10.1139/f95-159.

Bowerman, T. E., A. Pinson-Dumm, C. A. Peery, and C. C. Caudill. 2017. "Reproductive Energy Expenditure and Changes in Body Morphology for a Population of Chinook Salmon Oncorhynchus Tshawytscha with a Long Distance Migration." Journal of Fish Biology 90 (5): 1960–79. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.13274. Brenna, J. Thomas, Thomas N. Corso, Herbert J. Tobias, and Richard J. Caimi. 1997. High Precision Continuous Flow Isotope Ratio Mass Spectrometry. Mass Spectrometry Reviews 16(5): 227-258. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-2787(1997)16:5<227::AID-MAS1>3.0.CO;2-J

Brewer, P. G., and J. P. Riley. 1965. "The Automatic Determination of Nitrate in Sea Water." Deep-Sea Research and Oceanographic Abstracts 12 (6): 765–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/0011-7471(65)90797-7.

Brumo, Abel F. 2006. "Spawning, Larval Recruitment, and Early Life Survival of Pacific Lampreys in the South Fork Coquille River, Oregon" Master's diss., Oregon State University

Cak, Anthony D, Dominic T Chaloner, and Gary A Lamberti. 2008. "Effects of Spawning Salmon on Dissolved Nutrients and Epilithon in Coupled Stream-Estuary Systems of Southeastern Alaska" 70: 169–78. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-008-8090-5.

Chaloner, Dominic T., Kristine M. Martin, Mark S. Wipfli, Peggy H. Ostrom, and Gary A. Lamberti. 2002. "Marine Carbon and Nitrogen in Southeastern Alaska Stream Food Webs: Evidence from Artificial and Natural Streams." Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 59 (8): 1257–65. https://doi.org/10.1139/f02-084.

Claeson, Shannon M., Judith L. Li, Jana E. Compton, and Peter A. Bisson. 2006. "Response of Nutrients, Biofilm, and Benthic Insects to Salmon Carcass Addition." Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 63 (6): 1230–41. https://doi.org/10.1139/F06-029.

Clemens, Benjamin J. 2019. "A Call for Standard Terminology for Lamprey Life Stages." Fisheries 44 (5): 243–45. https://doi.org/10.1002/fsh.10227.

Clemens, Benjamin J., Richard J. Beamish, Kelly C. Coates, Margaret F. Docker, Jason B. Dunham, Ann E. Gray, Jon E. Hess, et al. 2017. "Conservation Challenges and Research Needs for Pacific Lamprey in the Columbia River Basin." Fisheries 42 (5): 268–80. https://doi.org/10.1080/03632415.2017.1305857.

Clemens, Benjamin J., Thomas R. Binder, Margaret F. Docker, Mary L. Moser, and Stacia A. Sower. 2010. "Similarities, Differences, and Unknowns in Biology and Management of Three Parasitic Lampreys of North America." Fisheries 35 (12): 580–94. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8446-35.12.580.

Clemens, Benjamin J., Stan van de Wetering, Stacia A. Sower, and Carl B. Schreck. 2013. "Maturation Characteristics and Life-History Strategies of the Pacific Lamprey, Entosphenus Tridentatus." Canadian Journal of Zoology 91 (11): 775–78. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjz-2013-0114.

Close, David A. 2000. Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, Pacific Lamprey Research and Restoration Project, Report to Bonneville Power Administration, Contract No. 00000248-1, Project No. 199402600, 94 electronic pages (BPA Report DOE/BP-00000248-1)

Close, D., M. S. Fitzpatrick, H. W. Li, B. Parker, D. Hatch, and G. James. 1995. Status report of the Pacific lamprey (Lampetra tridentata) in the Columbia River basin. Report to the Bonneville Power Administration, Contract 9SBI39067, Portland, OR.

Close, David A., Kenneth P. Currens, Aaron Jackson, Andrew J. Wildbill, Josh Hansen, Preston Broson, and Kimmo Aronsuu. 2009. "Lessons from the Reintroduction of a Noncharismatic , Migratory Fish : Pacific Lamprey in the Upper Umatilla River , Oregon." American Fisheries Society Lessons.

Close, David A., Martin S. Fitzpatrick, and Hiram W. Li. 2002. "The Ecological and Cultural Importance of a Species at Risk of Extinction, Pacific Lamprey." Fisheries 27 (7): 19–25. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8446(2002)027<0019:teacio>2.0.co;2.

Close, David A, Aaron D Jackson, Brian P Conner, and Hiram W Li. 2004. "Traditional Ecological Knowledge of Pacific Lamprey (Entosphenus Tridentatus) in Northeastern Oregon and Southeastern Washington from Indigenous Peoples of the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation." Journal of Northwest Anthropology 38 (2): 141–62. https://aboriginalfisheriesresearchunit.files.wordpress.com/2012/06/traditionalecological-knowledge.pdf.

Crandall, J.D., and E. Wittenbach. 2015. Pacific Lamprey Habitat Restoration Guide. Methow Salmon Recovery Foundation, Twisp, WA 1st Edition, 54 pp.

CRITFC. n.d.a. "The Founding of CRITFC." Accessed May 21, 2020. https://www.critfc.org/about-us/critfcs-founding/

CRITFC. n.d.b. "Pacific Lamprey Restoration Efforts." Accessed March 13, 2020. https://www.critfc.org/fish-and-watersheds/columbia-river-fish-species/lamprey/pacific-lamprey-restoration/

[CRITFC] Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission. 2011. "Tribal Pacific Lamprey restoration plan for the Columbia River basin." CRITFC, Portland, Oregon. https://www.fwspubs.org/doi/suppl/10.3996/042016-JWFM-033/suppl_file/fwma-08-01-14_s5+reference+s1.pdf

[CRITFC] Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission, Yakama Nation, Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, and Nez Perce Tribe. 2018. "Master Plan: Pacific Lamprey Artificial Propagation, Translocation, Restoration, and Research." https://www.critfc.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/04/20180327-Master-Plan-Pac-Lamprey.pdf

Cummins, Kenneth W. 1974. "Structure and Function of Stream Ecosystems." BioScience 24 (11): 631–41. https://doi.org/10.2307/1296676.

Cummins, Kenneth W., Margaret A. Wilzbach, Donna M. Gates, Joy B. Perry, and W. Bruce Taliaferro. 1989. "Shredders and Riparian Vegetation." BioScience 39 (1): 24–30. https://doi.org/10.2307/1310804.

DaCosta, A., and J. A. Stern. 1958. "The Calcium and Phosphorus Contents of Some Foreign and Domestic Canned Sardines." Food Research 21: 242–49.

Daufresne, T., and M. Loreau. 2001. "Ecological Stoichiometry, Primary Producer-Decomposer Interactions, and Ecosystem Persistence." Ecology 82 (11): 3069–82. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2001)082[3069:ESPPDI]2.0.CO;2.

Dawson, H., B. Quintella, P. Almeida, A. Treble, and J. Jolley. 2015. "The Ecology of Larval and Metamorphosing Lampreys." In Lampreys: Biology, Conservation and Control edited by M. F. Docker, 75-137. New York, NY: Springer. 10.1007/978-94-017-9306-3_3.

Dillon, P. J., and W. B. Kirchner. 1975. "The Effects of Geology and Land Use on the Export of Phosphorus from Watersheds." Water Research 9 (2): 135–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(75)90002-0.

Dodds, Walter K., Val H. Smith, and Kirk Lohman. 2002. "Nitrogen and Phosphorus Relationships to Benthic Algal Biomass in Temperate Streams." Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 59 (5): 865–74. https://doi.org/10.1139/f02-063.

Dunkle, Matthew R. 2017. "Resource Subsidies from Spawning Pacific Lamprey: Spatial Dynamics of Carcass Fate and Entry into Stream Food Webs." Master's diss., University of Idaho. Dunkle, Matthew R., Ralph T. Lampman, Aaron D. Jackson, and Christopher C. Caudill. 2020. "Factors Affecting Fate of Pacific Lamprey Carcasses and Resource Transport to Riparian and Stream Macrohabitats." Freshwater Biology 65(8):1429-1439. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.13510.

Elser, James J., Dean R. Dobberfuhl, Neil A. MacKay, and John H. Schampel. 1996. "Organism Size, Life History, and N:P Stoichiometry." BioScience 46 (9): 674–84. https://doi.org/10.2307/1312897.

Evans, Thomas M., and James E. Bauer. 2016. "Identification of the Nutritional Resources of Larval Sea Lamprey in Two Great Lakes Tributaries Using Stable Isotopes." Journal of Great Lakes Research 42 (1): 99–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2015.11.010.

Everson, R. Garth, William Cockburn, and Martin Gibbs. 1967. "Sucrose as a Product of Photosynthesis in Isolated Spinach Chloroplasts." Plant Physiology 42 (6): 840–44. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.42.6.840. Fisher Wold, Amy K., and Anne E. Hershey. 1999. "Effects of Salmon Carcass Decomposition on Biofilm Growth and Wood Decomposition." Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 56 (5): 767–73. https://doi.org/10.1139/f99-030.

Focken, U., and K. Becker. 1998. "Metabolic Fractionation of Stable Carbon Isotopes: Implications of Different Proximate Compositions for Studies of the Aquatic Food Webs Using $\Delta 13$ C Data." Oecologia 115 (3): 337–43. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004420050525.

Fox, John and Sanford Weisberg. 2019. An {R} Companion to Applied Regression, Third Edition. Thousand Oaks CA: Sage. URL: https://socialsciences.mcmaster.ca/jfox/Books/Companion/

Francoeur, S. N. 2001. "Meta-Analysis of Lotic Nutrient Amendment Experiments: Detecting and Quantifying Subtle Responses." Journal of the North American Benthological Society 20 (3): 358–68. https://doi.org/10.2307/1468034.

Graham, J., and C. Brun. 2004. "Determining lamprey species composition, larval distribution, and adult abundance in the Deschutes River, Oregon". 2003-2004 Annual Report, Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon, Warm Springs. Annual Report, Project No. 200201600, 43 electronic pages, (BPA Report DOE/BP-00009553-2)

Graham, Jennifer, Christopher Brun. 2006. "Determining Lamprey Species Composition, Larval Distribution, and Adult Abundance in the Deschutes River, Oregon, Subbasin."2005-2006 Annual Report, Project No. 200201600, 39 electronic pages, (BPA Report DOE/BP-00009553-4) Greig, L. and A. Hall. 2011. First International Forum on the Recovery and Propagation of Lamprey: Workshop Report. Prepared by ESSA Technologies Ltd., Vancouver, B.C. for the Columbia River InterTribal Fish Commission, Portland, Oregon, 33 pp

Gresh, Ted, Jim Lichatowich, and Peter Schoonmaker. 2000. "An Estimation of Historic and Current Levels of Salmon Production in the Northeast Pacific Ecosystem: Evidence of a Nutrient Deficit in the Freshwater Systems of the Pacific Northwest." Fisheries 25 (1): 15–21. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8446(2000)025<0015:aeohac>2.0.co;2.

Gross, Juergen and Uwe Ligges. 2015. nortest: Tests for Normality. R package version 1.0-4. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=nortest

Gunckel, Stephanie, Kim K. Jones, and Steven E. Jacobs. 2009. "Spawning Distribution and Habitat Use of Adult Pacific and Western Brook Lampreys in Smith River, Oregon." American Fisheries Society Symposium 72: 173–89.

Hall, Robert Jr O., Emily S. Bernhardt, and Gene E. Likens. 2002. "Relating Nutrient Uptake with Transient Storage in Forested Mountain Streams." Limnology and Oceanography 47 (1): 255–65. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2002.47.1.0255.

Hendrixson, H. A., R. W. Sterner, and A. D. Kay. 2007. "Elemental Stoichiometry of Freshwater Fishes in Relation to Phylogeny, Allometry and Ecology." Journal of Fish Biology 70 (1): 121–40. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2006.01280.x.

Hendry, Andrew P., and Ole K. Berg. 1999. "Secondary Sexual Characters, Energy Senescence, and the Cost of Reproduction Sockeye Salmon." Canadian Journal of Zoology 77 (11): 1663–75. https://doi.org/10.1139/z99-158.

Hess, Jon E., Rebecca L. Paradis, Mary L. Moser, Laurie A. Weitkamp, Thomas A. Delomas, and Shawn R. Narum. 2021. "Robust Recolonization of Pacific Lamprey Following Dam Removals." Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 150 (1): 56–74. https://doi.org/10.1002/tafs.10273.

Hilderbrand, G. V., S. D. Farley, C. T. Robbins, T. A. Hanley, K. Titus, and C. Servheen. 1996. "Use of Stable Isotopes to Determine Diets of Living and Extinct Bears." Canadian Journal of Zoology 74 (11): 2080–88. https://doi.org/10.1139/z96-236.

Hillebrand, H., and U. Sommer. 1999. "The Nutrient Stoichiometry of Benthic Microalgal Growth: Redfield Proportions Are Optimal." Limnology and Oceanography 44 (2): 440–46. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1999.44.2.0440.

Hoellein, Timothy J., Jennifer L. Tank, John J. Kelly, and Emma J. Rosi-Marshall. 2010. "Seasonal Variation in Nutrient Limitation of Microbial Biofilms Colonizing Organic and Inorganic Substrata in Streams." Hydrobiologia 649 (1): 331–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-010-0276-x.

Hoellein, Timothy J., Jennifer L. Tank, Emma J. Rosi-Marshall, Sally A. Entrekin, and Gary A. Lamberti. 2007. "Controls on Spatial and Temporal Variation of Nutrient Uptake in Three Michigan Headwater Streams." Limnology and Oceanography 52 (5): 1964–77. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2007.52.5.1964.

Hogg, Robert, Stephen M. Coghlan, and Joseph Zydlewski. 2013. "Anadromous Sea Lampreys Recolonize a Maine Coastal River Tributary after Dam Removal." Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 142 (5): 1381–94. https://doi.org/10.1080/00028487.2013.811103.

Hood, Eran, Jason B. Fellman, Rick T. Edwards, David V. D'Amore, and Durelle Scott. 2019. "Salmon-Derived Nutrient and Organic Matter Fluxes from a Coastal Catchment in Southeast Alaska." Freshwater Biology 64 (6): 1157–68. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.13292.

Janetski, David J., Dominic T. Chaloner, Scott D. Tiegs, and Gary A. Lamberti. 2009. "Pacific Salmon Effects on Stream Ecosystems: A Quantitative Synthesis." Oecologia 159 (3): 583–95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-008-1249-x.

Johnson, Laura T., Jennifer L. Tank, and Walter K. Dodds. 2009. "The Influence of Land Use on Stream Biofilm Nutrient Limitation across Eight North American Ecoregions." Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 66 (7): 1081–94. https://doi.org/10.1139/F09-065.

Johnston, N. T., E. A. MacIsaac, P. J. Tschaplinski, and K. J. Hall. 2004. "Effects of the Abundance of Spawning Sockeye Salmon (Oncorhynchus Nerka) on Nutrients and Algal Biomass in Forested Streams." Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 61 (3): 384–403. https://doi.org/10.1139/f03-172.

Jolley, J. C., G. S. Silver, J. E. Harris, and T. A. Whitesel. 2018. "Pacific Lamprey Recolonization of a Pacific Northwest River Following Dam Removal." River Research and Applications 34 (1): 44–51. https://doi.org/10.1002/rra.3221.

Kan, T. Ting. 1975. "Systematics, Variation, Distribution, and Biology of Lampreys of the Genus Lampetra in Oregon." PhD diss., Oregon State University.

Kay, M., & Wobbrock, J. (2016). ARTool: Aligned rank transform for nonparametric factorial ANOVAs. R package version 0.10.4 Kaylor, Matthew J., Seth M. White, Edwin R. Sedell, Ashley M. Sanders, and Dana R. Warren. 2020. "Carcass Additions Influence Food Webs Through Bottom-Up and Direct Consumption Pathways Along a Fish Species Assemblage Gradient." Ecosystems 24 (1): 168–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-020-00510-x.

Keefer, Matthew L., Christopher J. Noyes, Tami S. Clabough, Daniel C. Joosten, and Christopher C. Caudill. 2020. "Rapid Migration and High Survival of Adult Pacific Lampreys in Reservoirs." North American Journal of Fisheries Management 40 (2): 354–67. https://doi.org/10.1002/nafm.10413.

Kohler, Andre E., Todd N. Pearsons, Joseph S. Zendt, Matthew G. Mesa, Christopher L. Johnson, and Patrick J. Connolly. 2012. "Nutrient Enrichment with Salmon Carcass Analogs in the Columbia River Basin, USA: A Stream Food Web Analysis." Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 141 (3): 802–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/00028487.2012.676380.

Lampman, R. 2017a. Translocation of Adult Pacific Lamprey within the Yakima Subbasin, 2015-2016 Broodstock Annual Report, BPA Project No. 2008-470-00, 19 pp.

Lampman, R. 2017b. Translocation of Adult Pacific Lamprey within the Wenatchee Subbasin, 2015-2016 Broodstock Annual Report, BPA Project No. 2008-470-00, 18 pp.

Lampman, R. 2017c. Translocation of Adult Pacific Lamprey within the Methow Subbasin, 2015-2016 Broodstock Annual Report, BPA Project No. 2008-470-00, 17 pp.

Lampman, Ralph T., Alexa N. Maine, Mary L. Moser, Hiroaki Arakawa, and Fraser B. Neave. 2020. "Lamprey Aquaculture Successes and Failures: A Path to Production for Control and Conservation." Journal of Great Lakes Research, no. xxxx. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2020.10.006.

Lampman, R., T. Beals, P. Luke, R. Rose, D. Lumley, and E. Johnson. 2014. Yakama Nation Pacific Lamprey Project, January – December, 2014, Annual Progress Report, Project No. 2008-470-00, 61 electronic pages (appendices 587 pages).

Lampman, R., T. Beals, and R. Rose. 2015. Yakama Nation Pacific Lamprey Project, January – December, 2015, Annual Progress Report, Project No. 2008-470-00, 83 electronic pages.

Lampman, R., T. Beals, and R. Rose. 2016. Yakama Nation Pacific Lamprey Project, January – December, 2016, Annual Progress Report, Project No. 2008-470-00, 95 electronic pages. Larkin, Gillian A., and Pat A. Slaney. 1997. "Implications of Trends in Marine-Derived Nutrient Influx to South Coastal British Columbia Salmonid Production." Fisheries 22 (11): 16–24. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8446(1997)022<0016:iotimn>2.0.co;2.

Larsen, Stefano, Jeffrey D. Muehlbauer, and Eugenia Marti. 2016. "Resource Subsidies between Stream and Terrestrial Ecosystems under Global Change." Global Change Biology 22 (7): 2489–2504. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13182.

Lundberg, J., & Moberg, F. (2003). Mobile link organisms and ecosystem functioning: Implications for ecosystem resilience and management. Ecosystems, 6(1), 87–98. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-002-0150-4

Lyle, A. A., and J. M. Elliott. 1998. "Migratory Salmonids as Vectors of Carbon, Nitrogen and Phosphorus between Marine and Freshwater Environments in North-East England." Science of the Total Environment 210–211: 457–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-9697(98)00031-X.

Marcarelli, Amy M., Colden V. Baxter, and Ark S. Wipfli. 2014. "Nutrient Additions to Mitigate for Loss of Pacific Salmon: Consequences for Stream Biofilm and Nutrient Dynamics." Ecosphere 5 (6): 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1890/ES13-00366.1.

Marcarelli, Amy M., Colden V. Baxter, Madeleine M. Mineau, and Rober O. Hall JR. 2012. "Quantity and Quality: Unifying Food Web and Ecosystem Perspectives on the Role of Resource Subsidies in Freshwaters." Ecological Monographs 82 (3): 297–333. https://doi.org/10.1890/11-1136.1.

Marcarelli, Amy M., Heather A. Bechtold, Amanda T. Rugenski, and Richard S. Inouye. 2009. "Nutrient Limitation of Biofilm Biomass and Metabolism in the Upper Snake River Basin, Southeast Idaho, USA." Hydrobiologia 620 (1): 63–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-008-9615-6.

Marczak, Laurie B., and John S. Richardson. 2007. "Spiders and Subsidies: Results from the Riparian Zone of a Coastal Temperate Rainforest." Journal of Animal Ecology 76 (4): 687–94. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2007.01240.x.

McBirney, Alexander. R. 1978. "Volcanic Evolution of the Cascade Range." Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences, no. 6: 437–56. http://marefateadyan.nashriyat.ir/node/150. McClain, Michael E., Elizabeth W. Boyer, C. Lisa Dent, Sarah E. Gergel, Nancy B. Grimm, Peter M. Groffman, Stephen C. Hart, et al. 2003. "Biogeochemical Hot Spots and Hot Moments at the Interface of Terrestrial and Aquatic Ecosystems." Ecosystems 6 (4): 301–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-003-0161-9.

McPhail, J.D. 2007. The Freshwater Fishes of British Columbia. 1-21. Edmonton, Alberta, Canada: The University of Alberta Press. Merrell, T. R. 1959. Gull food habits on the Columbia River. Fish Commission of Oregon Research Briefs 7(1):82.

Merritt, R. W., K. W. Cummins, and T. M. Burton. 1984. The role of aquatic insects in the processing and cycling of nutrients. Pages 134-163 in V H. Resh and D. M. Rosenberg, eds. The ecology of aquatic insects. Praeger Publishers, New York.

Miller, Jay. 2012. "Lamprey "Eels" in the Greater Northwest: a Survey of Tribal Sources, Experiences, and Sciences. Journal of Northwest Anthropology 46(1):65–84.

Minagawa, Masao, and Eitaro Wada. 1984. "Stepwise Enrichment of 15N along Food Chains: Further Evidence and the Relation between Δ 15N and Animal Age." Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 48 (5): 1135–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-7037(84)90204-7.

Moore, James W., and Jon M. Mallatt. 1980. "Feeding of Larval Lamprey." Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 37 (11): 1658–64. https://doi.org/10.1139/f80-213.

Morley, S. A., H. J. Coe, J. J. Duda, L. S. Dunphy, M. L. Mchenry, B. R. Beckman, M. Elofson, E. M. Sampson, and L. Ward. 2016. "Seasonal Variation Exceeds Effects of Salmon Carcass Additions on Benthic Food Webs in the Elwha River." Ecosphere 7 (8): 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.1422.

Murauskas, Joshua G., Alexei M. Orlov, and Kevin A. Siwicke. 2013. "Relationships between the Abundance of Pacific Lamprey in the Columbia River and Their Common Hosts in the Marine Environment." Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 142 (1): 143–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/00028487.2012.730113.

Murphy, J, and J.P. Riley. 1962. "A Modified Single Solution Method for the Determination of Phosphate in Natural Waters." Analytica Chimica Acta 27: 31–36. https://doi.org/doi:10.1016/S0003-2670(00)88444-5.

Naiman, Robert J., Robert E. Bilby, Daniel E. Schindler, and James M. Helfield. 2002. "Pacific Salmon, Nutrients, and the Dynamics of Freshwater and Riparian Ecosystems." Ecosystems 5 (4): 399–417. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-001-0083-3.

Nehlsen, Willa, Jack E. Williams, and James A. Lichatowich. 1991. "Pacific Salmon at the Crossroads: Stocks at Risk from California, Oregon, Idaho, and Washington." Fisheries 16 (2): 4–21. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8446(1991)016<0004:psatcs>2.0.co;2.

[ODFW] Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife, Fish Division. 2002. Oregon Lampreys: Natural History Status and Analysis of Management Issues by Kathryn Kostow. Salem, OR.

Olapade, Ola A., and Laura G. Leff. 2005. "Seasonal Response of Stream Biofilm Communities to Dissolved Organic Matter and Nutrient Enrichments." Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71 (5): 2278–87. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.5.2278-2287.2005.

Pacific Lamprey Technical Workgroup. 2017. Practical guidelines for incorporating adult Pacific lamprey passage at fishways. June 2017. White Paper. 47 pp + Appendix. Available online: https://www.fws.gov/pacificlamprey/mainpage.cfm

Parmenter, Robert R., and Vincent A. Lamarra. 1991. "Nutrient Cycling in a Freshwater Marsh: The Decomposition of Fish and Waterfowl Carrion." Limnology and Oceanography 36 (5): 976–87. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1991.36.5.0976.

Pearsons, Todd N., Dennis D. Roley, and Christopher L. Johnson. 2007. "Development of a Carcass Analog for Nutrient Restoration in Streams" Fisheries 32 (3): 114–24.

Petersen, Robin S. 2006. "The Role of Traditional Ecological Knowledge in Understanding a Species and River System at Risk: Pacific Lamprey in the Lower Klamath Basin." Master's diss., Oregon State University.

Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, Sarkar D, R Core Team. 2021. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models. R package version 3.1-152, https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=nlme.

Poe, Thomas P., Hal C. Hansel, Steven Vigg, and Linda A. Palmer, Douglas E. Prendergast. 1991. "Feeding of Predaceous Fishes on Out-Migrating Juvenile Salmonids in John Day Reservoir, Columbia River," Transactions of the American Fisheries Society.120 (4): 37–41. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(1991)120.

Poirier, J. 2019. "Pacific Lamprey 2019 Regional Implementation Plan for the Mid-Columbia Regional Management Unit." https://www.fws.gov/pacificlamprey/Documents/RIPs/ 2019/2019%20Mid-Columbia%20RIP.pdf

Polis, Gary A., Wendy B. Anderson, and Robert D. Holt. 1997. "Toward an Integration of Landscape and Food Web Ecology: The Dynamics of Spatially Subsidized Food Webs." Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 28: 289–316. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.28.1.289.

R Core Team. 2020. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing.

Redfield, Alfred C. 1958. "The Biological Control of Chemical Factors in the Environment." American Scientist 46 (3): 205–21.

Reisinger, Alexander J., Jennifer L. Tank, and Martha M. Dee. 2016. "Regional and Seasonal Variation in Nutrient Limitation of River Biofilms." Freshwater Science 35 (2): 474–89. https://doi.org/10.1086/685829.

Renaud, C. B. 1997. "Conservation Status of Northern Hemisphere Lampreys (Petromyzontidae)." Journal of Applied Ichthyology 13 (3): 143–48. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0426.1997.tb00114.x.

Rüegg, Janine, Scott D. Tiegs, Dominic T. Chaloner, Peter S. Levi, Jennifer L. Tank, and Gary A. Lamberti. 2011. "Salmon Subsidies Alleviate Nutrient Limitation of Benthic Biofilms in Southeast Alaska Streams." Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 68 (2): 277–87. https://doi.org/10.1139/F10-145.

Qi, H.P., Tyler B. Coplen. 2003. "Evaluation of the 34S/32S ratio of Soufre de Lacq elemental sulfur isotopic reference material by continuous flow isotope-ratio mass spectrometry." Chemical Geology 199(1-2): 183-187. doi:10.1016/S0009-2541(03)00075-5

Samways, Kurt M., Zoraida J. Quiñones-Rivera, Peter R. Leavitt, and Richard A. Cunjak. 2015. "Spatiotemporal Responses of Algal, Fungal, and Bacterial Biofilm Communities in Atlantic Rivers Receiving Marine-Derived Nutrient Inputs." Freshwater Science 34 (3): 881–96. https://doi.org/10.1086/681723.

Sanderson, Beth L., Holly J. Coe, Chau D. Tran, Kate H. Macneale, Deborah L. Harstad, and Adam B. Goodwin. 2009. "Nutrient Limitation of Periphyton in Idaho Streams: Results from Nutrient Diffusing Substrate Experiments." Journal of the North American Benthological Society 28 (4): 832–45. https://doi.org/10.1899/09-072.1. Sartory, D. P., and J. U. Grobbelaar. 1984. "Extraction of Chlorophyll a from Freshwater Phytoplankton for Spectrophotometric Analysis." Hydrobiologia 114 (3): 177–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00031869.

Schade, John D., Keeley Macneill, Steve A. Thomas, F. Camille Mcneely, Jill R. Welter, James Hood, Maria Goodrich, Mary E. Power, and Jacques C. Finlay. 2011. "The Stoichiometry of Nitrogen and Phosphorus Spiralling in Heterotrophic and Autotrophic Streams." Freshwater Biology 56 (3): 424–36. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2010.02509.x.

Shakeri, Yasaman N., Kevin S. White, and Taal Levi. 2018. "Salmon-Supported Bears, Seed Dispersal, and Extensive Resource Subsidies to Granivores." Ecosphere 9 (6). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2297.

Sorensen, Peter W., Jared M. Fine, Vadims Dvornikovs, Christopher S. Jeffrey, Feng Shao, Jizhou Wang, Lance A. Vrieze, Kari R. Anderson, and Thomas R. Hoye. 2005. "Mixture of New Sulfated Steroids Functions as a Migratory Pheromone in the Sea Lamprey." Nature Chemical Biology 1 (6): 324–28. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio739.

Sterner, Robert W. 1990. "The Ratio of Nitrogen to Phosphorus Resupplied by Herbivores : Zooplankton and the Algal Competitive Arena." The American Naturalist 136 (2): 209–29.

Sterner, Robert W, James J Elser, Dag O Hessen, Robert W Sterner, James J Elser, and D A G O Hessen. 1992. "Stoichiometric Relationships among Producers, Consumers and Nutrient Cycling in Pelagic Ecosystems Published by : Springer Stable URL : Http://Www.Jstor.Org/Stable/1468742 REFERENCES Linked References Are Available on JSTOR for This Article : You May Nee." Biogeochemistry 17 (1): 49–67.

Stockner, J. G., Rydin, E., & Hyenstrand, P. (2000). Cultural oligotrophication Fisheries. Afs, 25(5), 7–14.

Stone, Jen. 2006. "Observations on Nest Characteristics, Spawning Habitat, and Spawning Behavior of Pacific and Western Brook Lamprey in a Washington Stream." Northwestern Naturalist 87 (3): 225. https://doi.org/10.1898/1051-1733(2006)87[225:ooncsh]2.0.co;2.

Subalusky, Amanda L., Christopher L. Dutton, Emma J. Rosi, and David M. Post. 2017. "Annual Mass Drownings of the Serengeti Wildebeest Migration Influence Nutrient Cycling and Storage in the Mara River." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 114 (29): 7647–52. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1614778114. Tank, Jennifer L., Alexander J. Reisinger, and Emma J. Rossi. 2017. "Nutrient Limitation and Uptake." In Methods in Stream Ecology: Volume 2: Ecosystem Function, edited by Gary Lamberti and F. Richard Hauer, 147-172. Burlington, MA: Academic Press.

Tank, Jennifer L., and Walter K. Dodds. 2003. "Nutrient Limitation of Epilithic and Epixylic Bio Lms in Ten North American Streams." Freshwater Biology, 1031–49.

Tank, Jennifer L., and J. R. Webster. 1998. "Interaction of Substrate and Nutrient Availability on Wood Biofilm Processes in Streams." Ecology 79 (6): 2168. https://doi.org/10.2307/176719.

Taylor, Brad W, Christine F Keep, Robert O Hall Jr, Benjamin J Koch, M Tronstad, Alexander S Flecker, Amber J Ulseth, et al. 2018. "Improving the Fluorometric Ammonium Method : Matrix Effects, Background Fluorescence, and Standard Additions Published by : The University of Chicago Press on Behalf of the Society for Freshwater Science Stable URL : Https://Www.Jstor.Org/Stable/10.1899" 26 (2).

Thut, R. N., and E. P. Haydu. 1971. Effects of forest chemicals on aquatic life. Pages 159-171 in J. T. Krygier and J. D. Hall (editors). A symposium on forest land uses and the stream environment. Continuing Education Publications, Oregon State University, Corvallis.

Tonra, Christopher M, Kimberly Sager-fradkin, Sarah A Morley, Jeffrey J Duda, and Peter P Marra. 2015. "The Rapid Return of Marine-Derived Nutrients to a Freshwater Food Web Following Dam Removal." BIOC 192: 130–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2015.09.009.

[USEPA] U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2000. Nutrient Criteria Technical Guidance Manual, by Sharon Buck, Gregory Denton, Walter Dodds, Jen Fisher, David Flemer, Debra Hart, Amanda Parker, Stephen Porter, Sam Rector, Alan Steinman, Jan Stevenson, Jeff Stoner, Danielle Tillman, Sherry Wang, Vicki Watson, Eugene Welch. EPA-822-B-00-002. https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/ 2018 -10/documents/nutrient-criteriamanual-rivers-streams.pdf

[USFS] U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 2011. Pacific Lamprey (Entosphenus tridentatus) Assessment and Template for Conservation Measures by Luzier, C. W., H. A. Schaller, J. K. Brostrom, C. Cook-Tabor, D. H. Good- man, R. D. Nelle, K. Ostrand, and B. Strief. Portland, Oregon. Available: www.fws.gov/columbiariver/publications/USFWS_Pacific_Lamprey_ Assessment_and%20_Template_for_Conservation_Measures_2011. pdf. (August 2016). [USFS] U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 2019. "Pacific Lamprey Entosphenus tridentatus Assessment." https://www.fws.gov/pacificlamprey/Documents/PacificLamprey_2018Assessme nt_final_02282019.pdf

Vannote, R. L., G. W. Minshall, K. W. Cummins, J. R. Sedell, and C. E. Cushing. 1980. "The River Continuum Concept." Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 37: 130-137.

Verspoor, Jan J., Douglas C. Braun, Morgan M. Stubbs, and John D. Reynolds. 2011. "Persistent Ecological Effects of a Salmon-Derived Nutrient Pulse on Stream Invertebrate Communities." Ecosphere 2 (2): 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1890/ES10-00011.1.

Wang, Christina, and Howard Schaller. 2015. "Conserving Pacific Lamprey through Collaborative Efforts." Fisheries 40 (2): 72–79. https://doi.org/10.1080/03632415.2014.996871.

Ward, David L., Benjamin J. Clemens, David Clugston, Aaron D. Jackson, Mary L. Moser, Chris Peery, and David P. Statler. 2012. "Translocating Adult Pacific Lamprey within the Columbia River Basin: State of the Science." Fisheries 37 (8): 351–61. https://doi.org/10.1080/03632415.2012.704818.

Ward, G Milton. 1986. "Lignin and Cellulose Content of Benthic Fine Particulate Organic Matter (FPOM) in Oregon Cascade Mountain Streams." Journal of the North American Benthological Society June Vol 5 (2): 127–39.

[WSRC] Washington State Recreation and Conservation, Governor's Salmon Recovery Office. 2020. State of Salmon in Watersheds Executive Summary.

Weaver, D. M., Coghlan, S. M., Zydlewski, J., Hogg, R. S., & Canton, M. 2015. "Decomposition of sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus carcasses: temperature effects, nutrient dynamics, and implications for stream food webs." Hydrobiologia, 760(1), 57–67. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-015-2302-5

Weaver, Daniel M., Stephen M. Coghlan, and Joseph Zydlewski. 2016. "Sea Lamprey Carcasses Exertlocal and Variable Food Web Effects in a Nutrient-Limited Atlantic Coastal Stream." Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 73 (11): 1616–25. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2015-0506.

Weaver, D. M., S. M. Coghlan, H. S. Greig, A. J. Klemmer, L. B. Perkins, and J. Zydlewski. 2018a. "Subsidies from Anadromous Sea Lamprey (Petromyzon Marinus) Carcasses Function as a Reciprocal Nutrient Exchange between Marine and Freshwaters." River Research and Applications 34 (7): 824–33. https://doi.org/10.1002/rra.3291. Weaver, Daniel M., Stephen M. Coghlan, and Joseph Zydlewski. 2018b. "The Influence of Nutrients from Carcasses of Sea Lamprey (Petromyzon Marinus) on Larval Growth and Spawner Abundance." Fishery Bulletin 116 (2): 142–52. https://doi.org/10.7755/FB.116.2.3.

Webster, J. R., J. L. Tank, J. B. Wallace, J. L. Meyer, S. L. Eggert, T. P. Ehrman, B. R. Ward, B. L. Bennett, P. F. Wagner, and M. E. McTammany. 2000. "Effects of Litter Exclusion and Wood Removal on Phosphorus and Nitrogen Retention in a Forest Stream." Verhandlungen Der Internationalen Vereinigung Für Theoretische Und Angewandte Limnologie 27 (3): 1337–40. https://doi.org/10.1080/03680770.1998.11901453.

Weitere, Markus, Martina Erken, Nabil Majdi, Hartmut Arndt, Helge Norf, Michael Reinshagen, Walter Traunspurger, Anja Walterscheid, and Jennifer K. Wey. 2018. "The Food Web Perspective on Aquatic Biofilms." Ecological Monographs 88 (4): 543–59. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecm.1315.

Whyte, John N. C., Richard J. Beamish, Norma G. Ginther, and Chrys-Ellen Neville. 1993. "Nutritional Condition of the Pacific Lamprey (Lampetra Tridentata) Deprived of Food for Periods of Up to Two Years." Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 50 (3): 591–99. https://doi.org/10.1139/f93-068.

Wicks-Arshack, Adam, Matthew Dunkle, Sammy Matsaw, and Christopher Caudill. 2018. "An Ecological, Cultural, and Legal Review of Pacific Lamprey in the Columbia River Basin." Idaho Law Review 54 (1): 45.

Wipfli, Mark S., John Hudson, and John Caouette. 1998. "Influence of Salmon Carcasses on Stream Productivity: Response of Biofilm and Benthic Macroinvertebrates in Southeastern Alaska, U.S.A." Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 55 (6): 1503–11. https://doi.org/10.1139/f98-031.

Wobbrock, Jacob O., Leah Findlater, Darren Gergle, and James J. Higgins. 2011. "The Aligned Rank Transform for Nonparametric Factorial Analyses Using Only ANOVA Procedures." Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, (pp. 143–146.

Wydoski, Richard, S., and richard R.Whitney. 2003. Inland Fishes of Washington. 2nd ed. 33- 36. Washington: University of Washinntgon Press.

Yakama Nation. 2019. Revised Master Plan for Yakima Subbasin Summer-and Fall-Run Chinook, Coho Salmon, and Steelhead. Prepared by the Confederated Tribes and Bands of the Yakama Nation for the Bonneville Power Administration and Northwest Power and Conservation Council. Toppenish, WA. September 2019. Yakama Nation Fisheries. 2020. "Pacific Lamprey Project." Accessed March 10, 2020. http://yakamafish-nsn.gov/restore/projects/pacific-lamprey-project

Yakama Nation Fisheries. n. d. "Adult Passage Counts" Accessed March 19, 2021. https://dashboard.yakamafish-star.net/DataQuery/adult_passage_counts Yun, Sang Seon, Andrew J. Wildbill, Michael J. Siefkes, Mary L. Moser, Andrew H. Dittman, Stephen C. Corbett, Weiming Li, and David A. Close. 2011. "Identification of Putative Migratory Pheromones from Pacific Lamprey (Lampetra Tridentata)." Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 68 (12): 2194–2203. https://doi.org/10.1139/F2011-140.

Zhang, Yixin, Junjiro N. Negishi, John S. Richardson, and Renata Kolodziejczyk. 2003. "Impacts of Marine-Derived Nutrients on Stream Ecosystem Functioning." Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 270 (1529): 2117–23. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2003.2478.